Aus dem Institut für Geschlechterforschung in der Medizin der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

## DISSERTATION

# Sex-specific gene expression in human cardiomyocytes subjected to left ventricular pressure overload

## Geschlechtsspezifische Genexpression in durch linksventrikuläre Drucküberbelastung beeinflussten humanen Kardiomyozyten

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor medicinae (Dr. med.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

## Léa Gaignebet

aus Villeneuve Saint Georges

Datum der Promotion: 03.03.2023

## Vorwort

Im Rahmen dieser Dissertation könnte ein Teil der in der vorliegenden Arbeit vorhandenen Ergebnisse, Tabellen und Abbildungen, am 15.01.2020 von der Arbeitsgruppe Gaignebet L, Kańduła MM, Lehmann D, Knosalla C, Kreil DP, Kararigas G. unter dem Titel "Sex-Specific Human Cardiomyocyte Gene Regulation in Left Ventricular Pressure Overload" in Mayo Clinic Proceedings veröffentlicht worden sein (Copyright 2019 Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research) [1]. Wie durch das "JOURNAL PUBLISHING AGREEMENT" und das "Authors rights" des Herausgebers "Elsevier" festgelegt, ist eine Wiederbenutzung dieser Inhalte in einer Dissertation durch den Autor ohne Erlaubnis möglich, vorausgesetzt, dass der Artikel zitiert wird.

## Inhaltsverzeichnis

Abbildungsverzeichnis	4
Tabellenverzeichnis	4
Abkürzungsverzeichnis	5
Abstract (Deutsch)	6
Abstract (Englisch)	7
Manteltext	8
1. Introduction	8
1.1 Cardiovascular diseases	8
1.2 Heart failure	8
1.3 Heart failure precursors	9
1.4 Pressure overload as risk factor for HF	9
1.5 Sex differences in HF	10
1.6 Sex differences in pressure overload and remodeling	11
1.7 Animal models of heart failure and pressure overload	13
1.8 Mechanisms contributing to the observed sex differences	15
1.9 Further relevant actors of remodeling	16
2. Aim and hypothesis	17
3. Methods	17
3.1 Study population	17
3.2 Echocardiography	17
3.3 Myocardial sampling	17
3.4 Cardiomyocyte isolation	18
3.5 RNA isolation	20
3.6. Reverse transcription	20
3.7. Quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR)	20
3.8 Statistical analysis	21
4. Results	22
4.1 Patient population	22
4.2 Gene Regulation	24
4.3 Relationship Between Gene Expression and LVEF	24
5. Discussion	25
5.1. Overall insights in cardiac remodeling at early stage	25
5.2 Further research	26
References	28
Eidesstattliche Versicherung und Anteilserklärung	35
Auszug aus der "Journal Summary List"	37
Publikation	38
Lebenslauf	48
Publikationsliste	49
Danksagung	50

## Abbildungsverzeichnis

Figure 1: Patterns of cardiac ageing in men and women

Figure 2: Overview of the cardiomyocyte isolation protocol

Figure 3: Cardiomyocytes in isolation solution

Figure 4: Relation between gene expression and EF

## Tabellenverzeichnis

Table 1: Summarized results from relevant animal studies

Table 2: S1 Ca2+ free Tyrode solution

Table 3: Enzyme solutions

Table 4: Primer data

Table 5: Baseline and echocardiographic characteristics of the study population

## Abkürzungsverzeichnis

ACE:	angiotensin converting enzyme
AS:	aortic stenosis
AT1:	angiotensin 1
AV:	aortic valve
AVR:	aortic valve replacement
CHD:	coronary heart disease
CCN:	cellular communication network
CMR:	cardiac magnetic resonance
CV:	cardiovascular
ES:	enzyme solution
HF:	heart failure
HPRT1:	hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase 1
LV:	left ventricular
LVEF:	left ventricular ejection fraction
LVH:	left ventricular hypertrophy
LVMI:	left ventricular mass index
MHC-β:	myosin heavy chain beta
NF-ĸB:	nuclear factor kappa B subunit 1
QPCR:	quantitative real-time PCR
RPLP0:	ribosomal protein large P0
PO:	pressure overload
RWT:	relative wall thickness
TGF:	transforming growth factor
TAC:	transverse aortic constriction
TF:	transcription factor

## Abstract (Deutsch)

Eine der aktuell bedeutendsten Herausforderungen der klinischen Kardiologie stellt die Herzinsuffizienz dar, die in sehr unterschiedlichen Erscheinungsformen auftritt und zu einer Reduktion der Lebensqualität, wiederholten Krankenhausaufenthalten und erhöhter Mortalität führt. Häufig beobachtete Vorstufen dieses progredienten Krankheitsbildes sind kardiales Remodeling und ventrikuläre Hypertrophie. Bei erhöhter Druckbelastung, verursacht z.B. durch arterielle Hypertonie oder eine Aortenklappenstenose, kommt es zu molekularen und zellulären Veränderungen des Myokards. In zahlreichen Studien wurden diese Veränderungen bereits untersucht und wiederholt erhebliche Geschlechterunterschiede beschrieben. Unter anderem wurde festgestellt, dass Männer häufiger maladaptives Remodeling aufweisen, gekennzeichnet durch überschießende Hypertrophie, Dilatation sowie entzündliche und fibrotische Veränderungen.

Um diese molekularen Mechanismen genauer zu entschlüsseln, wurden in der dargestellten Arbeit Kardiomyozyten von Patienten\*innen mit Aortenklappenstenose, die sich einem Aortenklappenersatz unterzogen und eine linksventrikuläre Hypertrophie aufwiesen, isoliert und deren Genexpression untersucht. Die Haupthypothese dieser Arbeit ist, dass männliche Patienten eine höhere Expression von Genen aufweisen, die mit maladaptivem Remodeling, Hypertrophie und Entzündung assoziiert sind. Zudem wurde hypothetisiert, dass die Expression von entzündungsbezogenen Genen bei Männern mit ihrer linksventrikulären Auswurffraktion zusammenhängt.

Vom 20. März 2016 bis zum 24. Mai 2017 wurden am Deutschen Herzzentrum in Berlin interventrikuläre Septumproben von 34 Patienten\*innen (17 Männer, 17 Frauen) gesammelt und Kardiomyozyten für die Genexpressionsanalyse isoliert. Zusätzlich wurden von jedem\*r Patienten\*in präoperativ klinische und echokardiographische Daten erfasst, die zeigten, dass Alter, Body-Mass-Index, Komorbiditäten und Medikation bei den 17 männlichen und 17 weiblichen Patienten\*innen vergleichbar waren. Männliche Patienten wiesen einen höheren mittleren linksventrikulären enddiastolischen Durchmesser ( $52 \pm 9 \text{ vs. } 45 \pm 4 \text{ mm}$ ; *P*=0,007) und eine höhere Hinterwanddicke ( $14,2 \pm 2,5 \text{ vs. } 12,1 \pm 1,6 \text{ mm}$ ; *P*=0,03), aber eine niedrigere linksventrikuläre Auswurffraktion ( $49\% \pm 14\% \text{ vs. } 59\% \pm 5\%$ ; *P*=0,01) auf.

Wie hypothetisiert, war die Genexpression der Mehrheit der ausgewählten Gene bei den männlichen im Vergleich zu den weiblichen Patienten\*innen höher. Darüber hinaus wurde mit der verwendeten Modellierungsanalyse eine signifikante männerspezifische negative Assoziation zweier entzündungsbezogener Gene (*CCN2* und *NFKB1*) zur Ejektionsfraktion (*P*=0,03 bzw. *P*=0,02) beobachtet, was auf eine Beziehung zwischen Entzündung und Herzfunktion bei männlichen Patienten hinweist.

Dies sind neuartige Befunde in humanen drucküberlasteten Kardiomyozyten, die helfen, zuvor erwähnte molekulare und zelluläre Veränderungen zu verdeutlichen sowie deren Einfluss auf diverse klinische und funktionelle Erscheinungsformen zu verstehen. Weitere Studien, die diese Erkenntnisse einbeziehen, würden helfen, unterschiedliche zeitliche Abläufe der Herzinsuffizienz besser zu verstehen. Vor allem könnten geschlechtsspezifische Therapieansätze in frühen Stadien des Remodelings entwickelt werden, die die Prognose verbessern.

## **Abstract (Englisch)**

A major issue currently faced in clinical cardiology is heart failure, which comes in many clinical presentations and leads to reduced life quality, repeated hospitalizations and high mortality. Being a time-evolving pathology, a common precursor of heart failure is ventricular remodeling and hypertrophy. While undergoing pressure overload caused for example by hypertension and aortic stenosis, the myocardium undergoes molecular and cellular changes. These changes have been explored and major differences have been described between the sexes. Among other findings, men were more likely to exhibit maladaptive remodeling, characterized by excessive hypertrophy and dilatation as well as inflammatory and fibrotic changes.

In the present work, to further investigate those molecular mechanisms, gene expression was assessed in cardiomyocytes isolated from patients with aortic stenosis undergoing aortic valve replacement and showing left ventricular hypertrophy. The main hypothesis of this work was that male cardiomyocytes display higher expression of genes linked with maladaptive remodeling, hypertrophy and inflammation. It was further hypothesized that expression of inflammation-related genes in males would be linked with myocardial function as described by left ventricular ejection fraction.

From 20<sup>th</sup> March 2016 through 24<sup>th</sup> May 2017, at the German Heart Centre in Berlin, interventricular septum samples from 34 patients were collected and isolated cardiomyocytes were used for gene expression analysis. Additionally, clinical and echocardiographical data from each patient were collected pre-operationally, showing that age, body mass index, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, comorbidities, and medication were similar between the 17 male and 17 female patients. Male patients showed higher mean  $\pm$  SD left ventricular end-diastolic diameter (52  $\pm$  9 vs 45  $\pm$  4 mm; *P*=0.007) and posterior wall thickness (14.2  $\pm$  2.5 vs 12.1  $\pm$  1.6 mm; *P*=0.03) but lower ejection fraction (49% $\pm$ 14% vs 59% $\pm$ =5%; *P*=0.01).

As hypothesized, the expression of the majority of the selected genes was higher in the cardiomyocytes of male vs. female patients. Furthermore, a significant male-specific negative association of two inflammation-related genes (*CCN2* and *NFKB1*) to ejection fraction (P=0.03 and P=0.02, respectively) was observed, which indicates an association between inflammatory factors and cardiac function in male patients.

These are innovative findings in human cardiomyocytes subjected to pressure overload, which help illustrate and explain the sex differences in forementioned molecular and cellular changes. Further research considering these molecular mechanisms could help understand different clinical presentations of heart failure and foremost, help develop sex-specific therapeutic approaches in early stages of remodeling.

## **Manteltext**

## 1. Introduction

## 1.1 Cardiovascular diseases

Cardiovascular (CV) diseases are the number one cause of death globally representing 31.5% of all deaths (approx. 17.3 million deaths annually) [2]. In Europe, CV diseases are responsible for the mortality of an even larger percentage of the population, i.e. 46%, which represents over 4 million deaths per year [3]. CV diseases have been the leading cause of death for many years also in Germany and accounted for around 44% of deaths in women and 36% in men in the year 2008 [4]. As a cause of premature death (before the age of 65), CV diseases lead to a substantial loss of potential life years and disease-free life years [5]. Moreover, CV diseases are the disease group with the highest costs compared with all other disease groups. For example, in 2015, 14% of direct medical costs - around 46 000 billion euros - were caused by CV diseases [6], as well as 14% of all hospitalization admissions [7]. Among CV diseases, leading causes of hospitalization and mortality are coronary heart disease (CHD), myocardial infarction, stroke, and heart failure.

## 1.2 Heart failure

Heart failure (HF) affects 1-2% of the population and the prevalence in the population older than 70 years reaches up to 10%. Though the incidence is supposed to be stable, in developed countries like Germany faced with a global ageing population, the prevalence of HF is increasing. About 141 000 persons in Germany aged 80 and over were affected by HF in 2009, and it is expected that by 2050 the affected individuals will be over 350 000. [8]. The current societal burden is remarkably high considering heart failure. In 2016, it represented the first cause for hospitalization in Germany (after healthy birth cases) and the second cause of death among women (5,5 % vs 3,3 in men) [9]. Worldwide, the estimated prevalence of HF is growing rapidly, thereby making HF a major public health issue on a global scale.[10].

HF leads to reduced quality of life and loss of autonomy. Furthermore, it is currently one of the most complex issues in cardiology. The definition of HF in the current guidelines shows already the difficulties underlying its diagnosis and therapy. Described as a clinical syndrome caused by cardiac structural or functional abnormality, it is understandable that the diversity of causes leading to HF leads to a challenge of timing therapeutic, symptomatic, or preventive treatment. In 1993, the Framingham Heart Study linked congestive HF with an extremely poor prognosis. The median survival time was 1.7 years in men and 3.2 years in women, with a 5-year survival rate of 25% in men and 38% in women [11]. More recent studies show an improvement in 5-

year-survival after the time of diagnosis up to 56.7%, which is reduced to 49.5% for patients aged over 75 years. However, this difference is not explained alone by the improvement in therapies, as other parameters like earlier time of diagnosis play a role as well [12,13]. For this reason, it is now globally recognized that HF precursors have to be detected and addressed before the onset of HF to ensure the best prognosis [14].

### 1.3 Heart failure precursors

Heart failure, in its chronic form, is often preceded by structural changes and functional dysfunction of the ventricles. This dysfunction can be systolic or diastolic and the aetiology leading to this condition is diverse and multi-causal. Furthermore, the pathologies mostly leading to HF are common in the population.

Considering a time-evolving pathophysiology, there are now known precursors of heart failure, one of the most frequent one is myocardial hypertrophy. It is also the leading symptom in a number of heart diseases (such as cardiomyopathies) and is a negative prognostic sign by itself [15–21]. Individual characteristics, particularly biological sex, influence the progression of cardiac remodeling, hypertrophy, and outcome. Mechanisms leading to myocardial hypertrophy are induced by different stimuli, such as pressure overload (PO) as in aortic valve stenosis disease or hypertension, ageing, diabetes, or myocardial ischemia [22].

### 1.4 Pressure overload as risk factor for HF

Pressure overload due to aortic stenosis (AS) or hypertension is one of the most common risk factors for heart failure. In patients affected by PO, the left ventricle hypertrophies in order to maintain functional cardiac output and maintain normal wall stress, and up to 50% of those patients will develop HF [23]. The prevalence of aortic valve stenosis ranges about 2-7% in the adult population and is the third more common CV disease after CHD and hypertension [24,25]. AS severity is clinically classified according to narrowing of the aortic valve and its progression controlled through echocardiographic examination. It is also used as a hallmark of indication for aortic valve replacement (AVR) operation. However, it has been widely shown that symptom onset and global outcome are also determined by the myocardial response, as measured by left ventricular (LV) ejection fraction (LVEF), left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), and myocardial fibrosis [15–21,26].

The development of myocardial hypertrophy caused by PO is associated with changes in cardiac geometry (size and shape) that are described as ventricular remodeling. In early stages, remodeling consists of an adaptive response to stress, where the heart walls thicken to compensate for increased stress and maintain function and high output. There are different mechanisms implicated in myocardial hypertrophy, concerning both cardiomyocytes and the

extracellular matrix. Extracellular matrix remodeling, as demonstrated by interstitial fibrosis, is a tissue state, where increased production, turnover or deposition of extracellular matrix components occur. Cardiomyocytes under PO conditions undergo several cellular and molecular changes, such as cell size increase, enhanced or modified protein synthesis, and reorganization of cellular architecture [27]. On the cellular level, this increase in the number of contractile elements leads to an improvement of the contractile force. On the molecular level, humoral and mechanical stimulus leads to reactivation of the fetal gene program. These molecular and cellular mechanisms lead to the reorganization of the entire ventricular architecture on the organ level and myocardial wall thickening. This helps reduce ventricular stress through Laplace's law and preserve systolic function despite high ventricular pressure. Overall, cardiac output is then maintained. This state has been defined as "adaptive hypertrophy". If PO is not removed, this compensatory mechanism usually leads to pathologic hypertrophy, either "concentric", characterized by loss of relaxation, an increase in filling pressures and ventricular decompensation, or "eccentric", defined by ventricular dilation and impaired contractile function. In the long term, the myocardial tissues undergo fibrosis, contributing to onset of HF [22]. It can be noted that eccentric hypertrophy also occurs typically in the case of volume overload (i.e. mitral regurgitation). Overall, the modifications described above do not take place in a homogenous chronological or local order in different individuals, and many factors influence these structural, cellular and molecular modifications, one of the most considerable one being sex.

### 1.5 Sex differences in HF

Sex differences are present across the entire spectrum of CV diseases. The influence of menopause and other hormonal parameters, as well as differences in epidemiology, pathology and outcome have been described thoroughly. Menopause for example has been considered for a long time to be a major risk factor concerning CV diseases risk in women. The more pronounced age-related cardiovascular risk seen in postmenopausal compared with premenopausal women has been commonly associated with withdrawal of endogenous sexual hormones and early menopause clearly heightens HF risk in women [28–30]. However, experimental and population data suggest that hormonal changes alone are unlikely to completely explain the observed sex differences in cardiovascular presentations and outcomes. Even if the relationship between endogenous estrogen and CV diseases has been described in multiple settings, [31–35], it is still difficult to investigate in which extent menopause is a direct cause of higher cardiovascular risk, considering concurrent timing as well as interrelation between hormonal changes and "classic" cardiovascular risk factors like diabetes, age, obesity, hypertension etc. [36]. Recent meta analyses indicate that more than menopause itself, early age at menopause or other parameters like total reproductive time

show more influence on cardiovascular risk [37,38]. However, those population-based studies explore "higher cardiovascular risk" (higher CV mortality / incidence of any CV adverse events), which is more extensively defined than HF onset and specific data about HF are lacking. What has been thoroughly described in animal models is the cardioprotective influence of endogenous estrogens in HF and fibrosis, as discussed later.

In male individuals, earlier onset of CV diseases, including HF, has been reported [39]. The EuroHeart Failure Survey demonstrated that men present more frequently with systolic dysfunction, while women have more frequently diastolic dysfunction [40]. For years, in clinical settings, HF has been mainly defined as LVEF reduction. Nowadays, HF is mainly classified in two different categories: HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). This clinical presentation, linked with diastolic dysfunction and loss of relaxation/ increase of stiffness, is more often displayed in women (around 60% of cases) [32,40,41]. Moreover, even if prognosis and outcome of HFpEF has been described similar to the ones of HFrEF, there is limited clinical research performed on the pharmacological treatment or other therapeutic interventions.[42]. Few clinical trials exploring  $\beta$ -Blocker therapy, one of the most important pharmacological interventions for reduction of mortality in HFrEF, showed growing evidence that  $\beta$ -Blocker therapy does not benefit patients with HFpEF [43,44]. Addressing the right pathophysiological pathway in patients with HF seems to be a major priority, as treating HF syndrome as one entity has shown to be counterproductive before.

This could be a consequence of sex-specific physiological and pathophysiological adaption and remodeling discussed as follows.

## 1.6 Sex differences in pressure overload and remodeling

Numerous studies have described the influence of sex on LV geometry and LV function in PO [45–48]. In particular, the sex-dependent structural adaptation of LV geometry can be described through smaller, thicker walls and less dilation in female than male hearts [46]. Furthermore, some studies reported higher transvalvular pressure gradient [46,48], and high left ventricular mass index (LVMI) in women when corrected for stenosis severity, age, LV function, and concomitant bypass surgery [49,50]. Other studies have shown that men are more likely to have higher LVMI, lower LVEF, and increased diastolic myocardial stiffness. Women, on the other hand, showed higher relative wall thickness (RWT) [51,52]. These parameters indicate the development of a more compact, stiffer heart undergoing concentric remodeling in women.



<u>Fig. 1</u>: Patterns of cardiac ageing in men and women. Reprinted from "Sex differences in cardiovascular ageing," by Merz AA and Cheng S, 2016, Heart Br Card Soc; 102(11):825–31. Copyright 2016 by BMJ Publishing Group Limited. [53] Reprinted with permission.

In another study, however, LVMI was similar between the sexes and when LVH of AS patients was analysed in a large population-based cohort, LVH was more prevalent in women than men [54]. This was also shown in another, more recent study with patients undergoing AVR, where similar percentages of women and men had increased LV diameters, but women more frequently exhibited LVH than men when compared with data from a healthy cohort [55]. These findings have been repeatedly confirmed, lately with even more precise investigations and use of cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) measurement [52,56]. Women, independently of LV size, more frequently preserve better ventricular function. This is shown by the presence of higher fractional shortening and preserved ejection fraction. Overall, myocardial contractility indicated by mid-wall shortening (MWS) is better in women than men during AS progression [57]. It has been shown that this functional difference is linked with LV geometry and typical female remodeling [48].

These differences in geometry and function may influence outcome. It has been shown that LVEF and MWS were better preserved during the progression of AS in women than men [48,57]. This could mean that women develop initially a form of remodeling that is more adaptive to PO in terms of function. The progression of the stenosis itself was not significantly different between the sexes, but women showed 31% lower all-cause mortality independently

of treatment, age or blood pressure [57]. Overall, presentation of inappropriately high LVM has been associated with a strong impairment of survival [16]. In a similar manner, diffuse fibrosis and remodeling as detected in CMR imaging has been linked to increased mortality [26]. A study with AS patients undergoing AVR surgery demonstrated that increased LV diameters persisted 1 week after surgery in 34% of men but only in 12% of women [55]. LVH reversed more frequently in women than in men and showed a better reversibility after unloading the ventricle by aortic valve replacement in women than in men [55]. In a study considering prognosis of patients after transcatheter AVR, women showed better long time outcome and survival [58]. Furthermore, prognosis of heart failure is better in women than men, even if diagnosis and therapy are more problematic, as shown in the CHARM study [59]. Further studies showed better or faster reversibility of LV dysfunction (described as reverse remodeling) in women when receiving heart failure treatment [60,61]. In the  $\beta$ -blocker Evaluation of Survival Trial (BEST) study, the effect of female sex was as powerful as the effect of  $\beta$ -blocker therapy alone [62]. This suggests a therapeutic effect of interest for sex-based therapies.

### 1.7 Animal models of heart failure and pressure overload

In order to investigate the role of biological sex in CVD, numerous studies have been performed using experimental models, such as mice and rats [63]. To mimic PO and induce HF in these models, transverse aortic constriction (TAC) has been used among others [64] [65]. These models, as well as others, have shown pronounced sex differences and are consistent with clinical studies. Males consistently develop more severe disease symptoms following PO in a variety of experimental settings. As presented before in men and women with AS, males from studies with mice and rats develop more eccentric cardiac hypertrophy, as well as increased fibrosis, compared with females [66]. On the molecular level, female hearts showed lower expression of fetal genes, such as atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP, NPPA), myosin heavy chain beta (MHC-β, MYH7) and matrix metalloprotease (MMP) was lower in females vs. males [67]. Even when showing a similar degree of hypertrophy or remodeling, female rats were more likely to preserve a better cardiac function than males [68]. Not only gene expression differs between sexes, but proteomic response as well [69]. Estrogenmediated cardioprotection has been suggested as a mechanism, since 17-β-oestradiol supplementation or treatment in different animal disease models in vivo or in vitro repeatedly ameliorated cardiac dysfunction and hypertrophic development. The results of those animal model studies are summarised in Table 1.

Table 1. Summarized results from relevant animal studies

Study	Model	Material analysed	Reported regulation, incl. gene expression/pathways		
Douglas 1998 [68]	TAC in female and male rats, compared with sham females and males	Echocardio- graphic data at 6 and 20 weeks after TAC and perfusion-fixed tissues	Males: more chamber dilatation, more collagen content		
Witt 2008 [70]	TAC in female and male mice	Left ventricle, 2 weeks after TAC	Female: higher expression of mitochondrial-related genes (PGC-1, cytochrome oxidase, carnitine palmitoyl transferase, acyl-CoA dehydrogenase, pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase) Male: higher expression of ribosomal proteins and genes associated with extracellular matrix remodeling (collagen 3, matrix metalloproteinase 2, TIMP2, and TGF-β2)		
Fliegner 2010 [66]	TAC, WT vs. ERβKO and male vs. female mice	Left ventricle, 9 weeks after TAC	Female: conservation of mitochondrial function (oxidative phosphorylation) Male: Upregulation of matrix remodeling and cell proliferation pathways		
Westphal 2012 [71]	TAC in ovariectomized female mice, treated with E2, raloxifene, 16α- LE2	Left ventricle, 9 weeks after TAC	E2- & 16α-LE2-treated: less TGF-β and CTGF expression, slower development of LVH & systolic dysfunction progression		
Prévilon 2014 [72]	TAC in male vs female vs sham mices	Left ventricle, 4 weeks after TAC	Sex differences in CaMPK-MEF pathway and calcineurin-NFAT pathway Male: higher αSK mRNA level		
Montalvo 2012 [73]	TAC, in male vs female vs orchidectomized males mice (1- year old)	Left ventricle, 2 weeks after TAC	Orchidectomized males: diminished up-regulation of TGF-β after TAC		
Donaldson 2009 [74]	TAC in ovariectomized mice, E2-treated vs Placebo	Left ventricle, 2 weeks after TAC	E2 treated females: mitigated increase of LV mass, ANP, and $\beta$ -MHC gene expression		

Skavdahl 2005 [75]	TAC in male vs female mice	Cardiac tissue (not specified), 2 weeks after TAC	Male: higher TNF receptor 12b, matrix metalloproteinase 14 (MMP14) and transforming growth factor-β3 (TGF-β3)	
Loyer 2007 [76]	TAC in male vs female Wistar rats	Left ventricle, 2, 14 and 20 weeks after TAC	Female: delayed NOS1 expression and activity	
Weinberg 1999 [67]	TAC in male vs female rats	RNA isolated from LV tissue and isolated LV cardiomyocytes, 6 weeks after TAC	Multicellular LV tissue: higher RNA overexpression of ANF, β-MHC, less SERCA in males Cardiomyocytes: expression of ER- receptor	
Pedram 2005 [77]	In vitro angiotensin II (ANG II) or endothelin 1 (ET-1) treatment, in presence or absence of E2	Isolated rat neonatal cardiomyocytes (1-3 days)	E2-treated cells: 17beta-oestradiol prevents AngII-ET-1-induced new protein synthesis and skeletal muscle actin expression. Induces high MCIP1 levels, thereby enhancing calcineurin inhibition.	
Wang 2017 [78]	G-Protein Estrogen Receptor (GPER) KO mice	Isolated mouse cardiomyocytes from adult mice (18–20 weeks)	GPER KO females: mitochondrial genes are upregulated GPER KO males: inflammatory response genes are upregulated	

## 1.8 Mechanisms contributing to the observed sex differences

It has been shown that gene expression differs significantly between the sexes in healthy and failing LV cardiac tissues [79,80]. The genomic correlates and corresponding molecular pathways responsible for HF are influenced by sex, as well as age and other factors. A study with human myocardial tissues of AS patients showed the importance of TGF- $\beta$ 1 gene expression levels and could detect a sex-dependent regulation of the downstream SMAD pathway [81]. The levels of collagen and fibronectin, as well as the correlating high TGF- $\beta$ 1 levels, were more important in men with worse LVEF and more dilatation than men with normal LVEF. In women, a proportionally higher expression of myosin light chain 2 (*MYL2*) and a correlation with the hypertrophic response were reported, as well as the expression of genes encoding sarcomeric proteins and TGF- $\beta$ 1. In another study of LV tissue samples from AS patients, men had significantly higher collagen I (*COL1A1*) and III (*COL3A1*) and matrix metalloproteinase 2 (*MMP2*) gene expression than women. The expression of these genes in women with PO was not significantly higher than the controls. These genes are characteristic

for matrix synthesis and turnover, and these results show the difference in regulation between women and men, with a higher increase of fibrotic gene expression in males [55]. Another more recent study highlighted the sex-related role of TGF-B1 and the SMAD signalling in regulation of fibrotic genes programmes: they were more expressed in men with higher cardiac fibrosis, but not in women [82]. Furthermore, periostin, a downstream target of TGF-β1 and formerly described as modulator of PO-induced hypertrophy, was significantly higher in AS males. Lately, a genome wide analysis of LV tissues from AS patients corroborated these findings and identified entire pathways, where sex differences could be observed. In male tissues, fibrosis-related genes/pathways were induced, while extracellular matrix-related and inflammatory genes/pathways were repressed in female tissues [83]. Of course, activation of inflammatory factors is necessary to react to stress or injury and initiate tissue recovery, cell multiplication and functional adaptation. Inflammation is a timely regulated process and growing evidence tends to point out that unbalanced, persistent inflammation contributes to disease progression. On the single gene level, relevant differences between sexes could be seen in the expression of TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 2 (TIMP2), chemokine (C-X3-C motif) receptor 1 (CX3CR1), interleukin 33 (IL33), and Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7), more increased in males only, and the expression of TGF- $\beta$ 1 (*TGFB1*), decreased in females only, corresponding to the pathways regulation detected in the genome wide assay [83].

## 1.9 Further relevant actors of remodeling

*CCN2*, which encodes cellular communication network factor 2, also known as connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), is a member of the CCN family of cytokine. It has been shown to be induced by TGF- $\beta$ 1 and to be a cofactor for and downstream mediator of TGF- $\beta$ 1, and therefore another candidate of sex-specific regulation of inflammation [84]. It is also a good example of interaction between inflammation and fibrosis, as it showed a crucial role in promoting fibrotic processes und ventricular hypertrophy [85]. High levels of *CCN2* have been reported previously before in human and animal failing cardiac tissues [86,87].

*NFKB*, which is a well-known transcription factor (TF) playing a central role in immune and inflammatory responses, has been described as sustaining chronic inflammation through the induction of inflammatory factors und thus being a hallmark of pathological hypertrophy [27] [88].

Sex differences are often noticed but not explained and the importance of linking gene expression with clinical, *in vivo* measurements is highlighted. The evidence for estrogenmediated cardioprotection in human remains debatable because the mechanisms contributing to sex differences in cardiac hypertrophy and HF and their relevance in each sex are not fully understood.

## 2. Aim and hypothesis

The aim of the present work was to assess sex differences in the expression of selected genes in isolated human cardiomyocytes (hCMs). The hypothesis was that the levels of maladaptive remodeling genes in hCMs from AS patients are higher in male vs. female patients. Furthermore, it was hypothesized that there is a male-specific association between ejection fraction and the expression of inflammation-related genes.

## 3. Methods

## 3.1 Study population

Septum biopsy was collected from 34 patients (50% men) with AS undergoing AVR. They were recruited between March 20, 2016, through May 24, 2017 at the German Heart Institute Berlin. Inclusion criteria were informed consent and availability of septum biopsy. Exclusion criteria were emergency surgery, reoperation, transapical or transarterial AVR, severe aortic leakage or other significant (stage II) concomitant mitral or tricuspid valve disease, and infectious or suspected infectious diseases, such as endocarditis, myocarditis, hepatitis. The characteristics of the patients are shown in Table 5. The study was approved by the local ethics committee, followed the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki and written consent was obtained from all patients.

## 3.2 Echocardiography

Patients received two-dimensionally guided M-mode transthoracic echocardiography during the week before and after operation. The M-mode tracings were digitally recorded and analysed. LVEF was calculated using the Quiñones formula and LV mass using the Devereux formula [89,90]. LV mass was indexed on body surface area to calculate LVMI and RWT was calculated as 2xLV posterior wall thickness (PWT) at end diastole/LV end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD). Aortic valve area was calculated with the continuity equation und indexed on body surface to obtain the aortic valve area index. Pressure gradients were calculated with the Bernoulli equation.

## 3.3 Myocardial sampling

During surgery, myocardial biopsies were taken from the lateral LV wall. Right after sampling, the biopsy was put in in 25ml Falcon tube filled with ice cold modified Tyrode solution (S1), oxygenated for at least 15 min beforehand and supplemented with 2,3-Butanedione monoxime with end concentration of 1 mg/ml. The falcon tube was then put on ice in a polystyrene box and transported within 20 min or less to the laboratory for further processing.

Material	MW	Final [] mM	g/1L ddH₂O	Company	Reference
Sucrose	342.30	88	30.1224	Sigma	S1888-1KG
NaCl	58.44	88	5.1427	Sigma	S7653-1KG
KCI	74.55	5.4	0.4026	Sigma	P9333-500G
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	84.01	4	0.3360	Sigma	S5761-500G
NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	119.98	0.3	0.036	Sigma	S5011-100G
MgCl <sub>2</sub> .6H <sub>2</sub> O	203.30	1.1	0.2236	Sigma	M2670-100G
HEPES	238.30	10	2.383	Sigma	H4034-500G
Taurine	125.15	20	2.503	Sigma	T0625-500G
D-(+)-Glucose	180.16	10	1,802	Sigma	G7528-250G
Sodium pyruvate	110.04	5	0.55	Sigma	P2256-25G

Table 2: S1 Ca2+ free Tyrode solution

## 3.4 Cardiomyocyte isolation



Fig. 2: Overview of the cardiomyocyte isolation protocol. Source: Own representation.

After tissue collection, the samples would be transferred to a petri dish on ice. Any visible fat was removed, and samples were cut in 1 mm pieces. The pieces were put in an Erlenmeyer flask containing 10ml enzymatic solution (ES1) for digestion containing 0.115 % collagenase and 0,02 % protease and put in a 35°C bath for 15min. During all digestion steps, the solution was continuously oxygenated. After this first step, another 10min digestion step in 0.062 % collagenase enzyme solution (ES2) followed. After this, pieces of biopsy would be delicately transferred to a cold solution (STOP solution) and mixed slowly with Pasteur pipette to facilitate separation. This last step (digestion + pipetting) would be repeated until complete digestion of the tissue. The cell solution would undergo each time centrifugation (RT, 50g, for 3min) in bovine serum albumin (BSA) solution, isolated cells were frozen in 1ml RNAzol and stored at -80°C until further processing.



Fig. 3: Cardiomyocytes in isolation solution, light microscopy. Source: Own pictures.

## Table 3: Enzyme solutions

Soluti	on	Company				
Base of Ca free Tyrode (S1)						
+ Bleb	bistatin with end concentration of $2\mu M$	Sigma; B0560-5MG				
ES1:	10ml Blebbistatin-enriched S1					
+	6.5 mg Collagenase type 2	Worthington; LOT: 40N12244; 298 u/mg				
+	2.5 mg Proteinase	Sigma; P8038-250MG				
+	20.5 mg BSA (2 mg/ml)	Sigma; A6003-25G				
ES2: 3	30ml Blebbistatin-enriched S1					
+	18.5 mg Collagenase type 2	Worthington; LOT: 40N12244; 298 u/mg				
+	60.5 mg BSA (2 mg/ml)	Sigma; A6003-25G				

## 3.5 RNA isolation

RNA isolation was performed on all available samples. Frozen 1ml RNAZol-cells samples were mixed with 0,2ml Chloroform and then centrifugated for 10 min (4°C, 14000 U/min). The upper, water-based layers of each sample were isolated and mixed 1:1 with isopropanol to induce precipitation of nucleic acids. After overnight precipitation at -20°C, a second 30 min centrifugation step (4°C, 14000 U/min) led to collection of an RNA-pellet. Surfactant was then discarded, and the pellet was washed und centrifuged repeatedly with 80% ethanol and left to air dry. After removing all alcohol, total RNA was eluted in RNAse-free water. RNA quality and quantity were controlled by measurement of total RNA Yield with a nanodrop. The quality of the RNA was assessed by the appropriate 240/260 ratios of the samples. RNA samples were measured and diluted in the right amount of water for transcription.

## 3.6. Reverse transcription

For each tissue, 0.5 g of total RNA was reverse transcribed into complementary DNA (cDNA) using the Applied Biosystems<sup>™</sup>High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit, which uses the random primer scheme for initiating cDNA synthesis, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

## 3.7. Quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR)

QPCR was conducted on all samples. QPCR amplification mixtures were performed in 25  $\mu$ l final volume containing 3 ng template cDNA, 2x SYBR Green PCR Master Mix and the corresponding pair of primers as seen in Table 4. The cycling conditions comprised 10 minutes polymerase activation at 95oC and 40 cycles at 95oC for 15 seconds and the annealing temperature of 60oC for 60 seconds. To normalize cDNA concentration in different samples, the expression of hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase 1 *(HPRT1)* and ribosomal protein large P0 (*RPLP0*) and used as a normalization factor: their expression levels was calculated, by which the quantity of the target gene was divided.

## Table 4: Primer data

Gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer
ACTC1	5'-CATCCAGGCAGTGCTATCCC-3'	5'-ACCATCCCCAGAGTCCAGAAC-3'
CCN2	5'-TACCAATGACAACGCCTCCT-3'	5'-TGGGAGTACCGATGCACTTT-3'
GATA4	5'-GGAAGCCCAAGAACCTGAAT-3'	5'-GGGAGGAAGGCTCTCACTG-3'
GJA1	5'-GCCTGAACTTGCCTTTTCAT-3'	5'-CTCCAGTCACCCATGTTGC-3'
HPRT	5'-TGTTGTAGGATATGCCCTTGACT-3'	5'-GGCTTTGTATTTTGCTTTTCCA-3'
NPPA	5'-ACCGTGAGCTTCCTCCTTTT-3'	5'-TTCCAAATGGTCCAGCAAA-3'
NPPB	5'- CACCGCAAAATGGTCCTCTA-3'	5'-TTAATGCCGCCTCAGCAC-3'
MYH7	5'-AGAGGGTGGCAAAGTCACTG-3'	5'GCCATGTCCTCGATTTTGTC-3'
MYH6	5'-TGCGCATTGAGTTCAAGAAG-3'	5'-CTTCATCCAGGGCCAATTCT-3'
MYL2	5'-GCAGGCGGAGAGGTTTT-3'	5'-AGTTGCCAGTCACGTCAGG-3'
MYL3	5'-GGCAGAAGTGCTCCGTGT-3'	5'-AGTCCATCATCTTGGTATTGAGC-3'
MYL4	5'-GAACCCTACCAATGCCGAGG-3'	5'-GAAATGTGCTGCAGGATGGG-3'
NFKB1	5'-CCAGATTCGATTTTATGAAGAGG-3'	5'-GAGTTTTGAAGACAATGGCAAAT-3'
RPLP0	5'-ACGGGTACAAACGAGTCCTG-3'	5'-AGCCACAAAGGCAGATGGAT-3'

## 3.8 Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis of clinical data and gene expression was performed using the PRISM 7 software (GraphPad Software Inc). Every data set was tested for normality with the Shapiro-Wilk test and for outliers with the Grubbs Test. Depending on data distribution, either the unpaired *t* test or the Mann-Whitney *U* test was used for comparisons between two groups. Comparisons for categorical variables were made with the  $\chi^2$  test or Fisher's exact test. A value of *P*≤.05 was considered statistically significant.

To analyse the relation between LVEF and gene expression, linear regression models were used based on iterative inverse variance weighted least squares regression with an M-estimator with Huber  $\psi$  and median absolute deviation scale estimation as implemented by the *rlm* function of the *MASS* R library. [91,92]. Logit transform was applied to all ratios in order to meaningfully use linear regression [93,94]. The regression models were first run based only on gene expression for every gene, age, sex, or body mass index alone. To test the validity of the models, leave-one-out robustness analysis of the model structure was performed. For example, each gene-based regression model would be tested for significance when excluding one different patient every time. By always removing one patient out of the equation and recording significance of the regression model, it excludes the possibility that this patient is responsible alone for the performance of the model. When leaving out once each patient where

LVEF data was available (24), if a model is significant every time, then it is robust 24 out of 24 times (24/24). By doing so, it suggests that possible results are not affected by outliers. Robustness is then reported under two thresholds: 5%, i.e. P<.05, and 10%, i.e. P<.1.

## 4. Results

## 4.1 Patient population

In the present study, 17 male and 17 female patients with AS undergoing aortic valve replacement were recruited. The characteristics of the patients are shown in Table 2. There were no significant differences in age, body-mass-index (BMI), or heart rate. The systolic and diastolic blood pressure are also similar between groups and the proportion of patients with arterial hypertension is not significantly different. In the same way, the distribution of CHD between men and women was not significantly different, nor concomitant hyperlipidaemia. Among further relevant comorbidities, the only difference between the cohorts was a significantly higher proportion of male patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus.

Concerning medication, the number of statin-treated patients was higher in the male cohort. Another medication, calcium antagonists, was found in proportionally more women than men. The occurrence of other relevant medications like angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and angiotensin 1 (AT1) receptor antagonists showed no significant differences between sexes in this cohort.

LVEF was significantly higher in women than men, even if the aortic valve (AV) area index was similar in both sexes. Hypertrophy parameters, such as LVEDD, LVMI and PWT, were significantly higher in men than women. The parameters related to pressure, i.e. peak or mean AV gradient pressure, were not significantly different between men and women.

	Total ( <i>n</i> = 34)	Men ( <i>n</i> = 17)	Women ( <i>n</i> = 17)	P value
Age, y	68 ± 9	68 ± 10	69 ± 8	.49
BMI, kg/m²	28 ± 4.9	28 ± 3	28 ± 5.2	.93
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	133 ± 24	133 ± 19	133 ± 31	.98
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	72 ± 11	74 ± 10	70 ± 12	.32
Diabetes Mellitus, %	38	47	24	.15
Hyperlipidemia, %	41	41	41	1.0
Hypertension, %	73	76	71	.69
CHD, %	47	52	41	.40
ACE inhibitors, %	42	47	40	.68
AT1 receptor antagonists, %	28	29	27	.86
Beta-blockers, %	54	71	40	.08
Diuretics, %	36	41	33	.65
Calcium antagonists, %	21	6	40	.02
Statins, %	57	77	40	.03
LVEDD, mm	48 ± 7	52 ± 9	45 ± 4	.007
Interventricular septum, mm	14.4 ± 2.8	15.3 ± 3.2	13.6 ± 2.2	.07
Posterior wall thickness, mm	13.2 ± 2.3	14.2 ± 2.5	12.1 ± 1.6	.03
LVMI, g/m²	140 ± 41	158 ± 45	123 ± 29	.04
RWT	0.54 ± 0.1	0.6 ± 0.12	0.5 ± 0.08	.87
Aortic valve area index, cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup>	0.4 ± 0.16	0.4 ± 0.19	0.5 ± 0.15	.96
Mean pressure gradient, mmHg	42 ± 13	39 ± 12	45 ± 14	.17
Maximal pressure gradient, mmHg	64 ± 18	57 ± 15	69 ± 19	.07
LVEF, %	54 ± 11	49 ± 14	59 ± 5	.01

Table 5: Baseline and echocardiographic characteristics of the study population

Values are shown as mean ± SD. *Note:* From "Sex-Specific Human Cardiomyocyte Gene Regulation in Left Ventricular Pressure Overload" by Gaignebet L, Kańduła MM, Lehmann D, Knosalla C, Kreil DP, Kararigas G, Mayo Clin Proc. 2020 Apr;95(4):688-697 [1]

### 4.2 Gene Regulation

Samples were collected from the interventricular septum during AVR and used these samples to isolate cardiomyocytes to assess cardiomyocyte-specific gene expression between male and female patients. The targeted genes were selected because of their implication in synthesis of structural proteins encoding actin cytoskeleton and cardiac muscle structural and contractile proteins, as well as inflammatory factors: *ACTC1*, *CCN2*, *GATA4*, *GJA1*, *MYH6*, *MYH7*, *MYL2*, *MYL3*, *MYL4*, *NFKB1*, *NPPA*, and *NPPB*. Most of these genes showed higher expression levels in male cardiomyocytes. Only the levels of *MYH7*, *MYL2*, and *MYL3* were similar between male and female cardiomyocytes.

### 4.3 Relationship Between Gene Expression and LVEF

To explore these significant sex differences in gene expression and test the hypothesis that they are linked to cardiac function, as assessed by LVEF, further systematic statistical analysis was performed to identify relations between the two. A systematic statistical regression analysis has been used, completed by leave-one-out robustness testing for validation, which revealed a significant relationship between LVEF and *NFKB1* (*P*=0.01) as well as *CCN2* (*P*=0.02) genes (Table 2). A higher expression level of *NFKB1* or *CCN2* was negatively related to LVEF (respectively *P*=0.01, robust at <5% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts and *P*=0.02, robust at <5% in 22 of 24 and <10% in 24 of 24 validation cohorts), and LVEF would decrease on average by 11% and 4% for every 2-fold increase of *NFKB1* or *CCN2* expression. This effect was not pronounced equally when considering males and females separately (*P*<0.001 for *NFKB1* and *P*=0.005 for *CCN2*). LVEF reduction related to increased gene expression was more distinct in male (17%) as female patients (7%) for *NFKB1*, as well as *CCN2*, (8% in males vs 1% in male and female patients).

In order to investigate the influence of sex on the relation between gene expression and LVEF for these 2 genes, regression models for gene-sex interaction were analysed and robust sex-specific effects could be identified: for *NFKB1*, *P*=0.02, robust at less than 5% in 22 of 24 and less than 10% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts; for *CCN2*, *P*=0.02, robust at less than 10% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts. Even given the small numbers of patients, an higher gene expression of those genes was related to a reduced LVEF in male patients (*P*=0.03 for *NFKB1* and *P*=0.02 for *CCN2*), while there was no significant effect in female patients (*P*=0.81 for *NFKB1* and *P*=0.41 for *CCN2*). Specifically, a 2-fold increase of gene expression of *NFKB1* corresponded to a reduction of LVEF by 15% on average (*P*=0.04, robust at <5% in 22 of 24 and <10% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts). The significant male-specific effect for gene expression in CCN2 yielded an average reduction in

LVEF of over 7% for every 2-fold increase. (*P*=0.02, robust at <5% in 22 of 24 and <10% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts).



Fig. 4: Relation between gene expression and LVEF

*Note:* From "Sex-Specific Human Cardiomyocyte Gene Regulation in Left Ventricular Pressure Overload" by Gaignebet L, Kańduła MM, Lehmann D, Knosalla C, Kreil DP, Kararigas G, Mayo Clin Proc. 2020 Apr;95(4):688-697, [1]

## 5. Discussion

### 5.1. Overall insights in cardiac remodeling at early stage

The main und novel finding of this work is that gene expression in hCMs isolated from AS patients is significantly different between the sexes. In particular, the expression of numerous genes associated with maladaptive remodeling was higher in hCMs of male patients compared with female patients. Additionally, a novel relation between the expression of two inflammatory genes, i.e. *CCN2* and *NFKB1*, and LVEF was identified, showing a negative relation, in a sexspecific manner. Among the numerous genes related with maladaptive remodeling, structural

genes have been previously described as involved in the development of PO-induced LVH and LV remodeling. [95]. The expression of *ACTC1*, *GJA1*, *MYL4*, *NPPA* and *NPPB* was higher in male vs female hCMs. In the same manner, the levels of the important transcription factor *GATA4*, involved in the development of LVH and HF [96], were higher in male vs female hCMs, as well as the levels of its downstream targets *MYH6* and *NPPA*. The overall higher induction of these hypertrophic factors in male hCMs correspond to the hypothesis that male patients show more maladaptive remodeling and have therefore a worse outcome.

In a similar way to the aforementioned structural genes, the expression of genes related to inflammation, i.e. *CCN2* and *NFKB1*, was higher in male cardiomyocytes compared with female cardiomyocytes. Notably, their expression is negatively related to LVEF in male patients. This is the first work studying *CCN2* expression at an early phase of remodeling in hCMs. Therefore, this suggest that it exerts a pro-inflammatory action and that it may contribute to increased vulnerability to cardiac dysfunction and worse prognosis in men.

*NFKB1* codes for the nuclear factor kappa B subunit 1 (NF- $\kappa$ B), whose activation has been repeatedly linked to the hypertrophic response of the heart in rodents and has been described in tissue from HF patients [88]. It has not been much studied at such an early phase of remodeling. We put forward that *CCN2* has a pro-inflammatory role together with NF- $\kappa$ B in male hCMs.

The modelling approach used revealed that increasing the expression of *CCN2* and *NFKB1* two-fold yielded a 7% and 15% average reduction in LVEF of male patients, respectively. This suggests that male-specific activation of pro-inflammatory factors may contribute to LV remodeling and cardiac dysfunction, or that they are at least mechanisms present in early steps of the failing myocardium. These findings, confirmed in bigger cohorts, could have many therapeutic implications. Beyond offering insight into new therapeutic targets or mechanisms, this work reflects the diversity of pathological mechanisms implicated in the development of HF. It illustrates the necessity of doing more research in this field, as the definition of HF as a uniform phenotype and pathophysiology has been strongly refuted. Different pathological mechanisms could be better targeted in different individuals, and this could even help to understand the efficacy of current therapies, to improve cardioprotective effects and reduce their Number Needed to Treat. Doing so would lead to a more personalized medicine and a better management of this very frequent syndrome with poor outcome.

### 5.2 Further research

The present findings open new research avenues. In order to better understand remodeling, a follow up study where clinical data of patients is assessed at a later time point could be

established. Information about long term development of heart function could help to identify genes and pathways which are linked to reversible, adaptive remodeling or permanent malfunction. This could help to identify patients at increased risk. As the present study has been based on a targeted approach, it would be interesting to perform a genome-wide analysis of gene expression in hCMs. This could highlight entire pathways as it has been done previously in the mouse adult heart or in whole heart tissue of humans [69,70]. Another point that requires further research is the investigation of the underlying mechanisms that contribute to the observed sex-specific gene expression. Among others, epigenomic approaches and studies of microRNA have been developed lately [97].

Another possibility would be a pharmacological interventional approach. An experimental setting with isolated hCMs submitted to pharmacological interventions would offer information about the influence of physiological mechanisms (for example estrogen-related cardioprotection) or pharmacological mechanisms on gene expression. Clinical studies of larger cohorts of patients with different pharmacological treatment or interventional studies could help to identify the influence of treatment on undergoing molecular remodeling.

Given the broad spectrum of remodeling and leading paths to HF, it is not a surprise that HF therapy has been focussed mostly to volume load control and heart frequency management. Remodeling mechanisms and ways of failing are multiple and there is growing evidence that the female cardiovascular system presents more often less explored pathomechanisms like pathological tissue stiffness, loss of distensibility and diastolic dysfunction. On the other hand, fibrotic progression, inflammation, and cell death are more likely to be found in men.

## References

- 1. Gaignebet L, Kańduła MM, Lehmann D, Knosalla C, Kreil DP, Kararigas G. Sex-Specific Human Cardiomyocyte Gene Regulation in Left Ventricular Pressure Overload. Mayo Clin Proc. 2020 Apr;95(4):688–97.
- GBD 2017 Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet Lond Engl. 2018 Nov 10;392(10159):1736–88.
- 3. Nichols M, Townsend N, Scarborough P, Rayner M. Cardiovascular disease in Europe: epidemiological update. Eur Heart J. 2013 Oct;34(39):3028–34.
- Dornquast C, E. Kroll L, K. Neuhauser H, N. Willich S, Reinhold T, A. Busch M. Regional Differences in the Prevalence of Cardiovascular Disease. Dtsch Ärztebl Int. 2016 Oct;113(42):704–11.
- 5. Roth GA, Nguyen G, Forouzanfar MH, Mokdad AH, Naghavi M, Murray CJL. Estimates of global and regional premature cardiovascular mortality in 2025. Circulation. 2015 Sep 29;132(13):1270–82.
- Krankheitskosten nach Alter Geschlecht ICD10-Kapitel ab 2015 [Internet]. [cited 2021 Apr 11]. Available from: https://www.gbebund.de/gbe/pkg\_isgbe5.prc\_menu\_olap?p\_uid=gast&p\_aid=66905016&p\_sprache=D&p\_help= 2&p\_indnr=61&p\_indsp=&p\_ityp=H&p\_fid=#SOURCES
- 7. Diagnosedaten der Krankenhäuser für Deutschland ab 1994 [Internet]. [cited 2021 Apr 11]. Available from: https://www.gbebund.de/gbe/pkg\_olap\_tables.prc\_set\_hierlevel?p\_uid=gast&p\_aid=57311956&p\_sprache=D&p \_help=2&p\_indnr=565&p\_ansnr=66366328&p\_version=2&p\_dim=D.954&p\_dw=14663&p\_directi on=drill
- 8. Neumann T, Biermann J, Neumann A, Wasem J, Ertl G, Dietz R, Erbel R. Heart Failure: the Commonest Reason for Hospital Admission in Germany. Dtsch Ärztebl Int. :7.
- 9. Statistisches Jahrbuch 2019. 2019;36.
- 10. Ziaeian B, Fonarow GC. Epidemiology and aetiology of heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2016 Jun;13(6):368–78.
- 11. Ho KK, Anderson KM, Kannel WB, Grossman W, Levy D. Survival after the onset of congestive heart failure in Framingham Heart Study subjects. Circulation. 1993 Jul;88(1):107–15.
- 12. Jones NR, Roalfe AK, Adoki I, Hobbs FDR, Taylor CJ. Survival of patients with chronic heart failure in the community: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Heart Fail. 2019;21(11):1306–25.
- 13. Jones NR, Hobbs FR, Taylor CJ. Prognosis following a diagnosis of heart failure and the role of primary care: a review of the literature. BJGP Open 2017; 1 (3): bjgpopen17X101013
- 14. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Falk V, González-Juanatey JR, Harjola V-P, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GMC, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J. 2016 Jul 14;37(27):2129–200.

- Levy D, Garrison RJ, Savage DD, Kannel WB, Castelli WP. Prognostic Implications of Echocardiographically Determined Left Ventricular Mass in the Framingham Heart Study. N Engl J Med. 1990 May 31;322(22):1561–6.
- Cioffi G, Faggiano P, Vizzardi E, Tarantini L, Cramariuc D, Gerdts E, de Simone G. Prognostic effect of inappropriately high left ventricular mass in asymptomatic severe aortic stenosis. Heart Br Card Soc. 2011 Feb;97(4):301–7.
- Azevedo CF, Nigri M, Higuchi ML, Pomerantzeff PM, Spina GS, Sampaio RO, Tarasoutchi F, Grinberg M, Rochitte CE. Prognostic significance of myocardial fibrosis quantification by histopathology and magnetic resonance imaging in patients with severe aortic valve disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010 Jul 20;56(4):278–87.
- Dweck MR, Joshi S, Murigu T, Alpendurada F, Jabbour A, Melina G, Banya W, Gulati A, Roussin I, Raza S, Prasad NA, Wage R, Quarto C, Angeloni E, Refice S, Sheppard M, Cook SA, Kilner PJ, Pennell DJ, Newby DE, Mohiaddin RH, Pepper J, Prasad SK. Midwall fibrosis is an independent predictor of mortality in patients with aortic stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011 Sep 13;58(12):1271–9.
- 19. Weidemann F, Herrmann S, Störk S, Niemann M, Frantz S, Lange V, Beer M, Gattenlöhner S, Voelker W, Ertl G, Strotmann JM. Impact of myocardial fibrosis in patients with symptomatic severe aortic stenosis. Circulation. 2009 Aug 18;120(7):577–84.
- Barone-Rochette G, Piérard S, De Meester de Ravenstein C, Seldrum S, Melchior J, Maes F, Pouleur A-C, Vancraeynest D, Pasquet A, Vanoverschelde J-L, Gerber BL. Prognostic significance of LGE by CMR in aortic stenosis patients undergoing valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014 Jul 15;64(2):144–54.
- 21. Herrmann S, Störk S, Niemann M, Lange V, Strotmann JM, Frantz S, Beer M, Gattenlöhner S, Voelker W, Ertl G, Weidemann F. Low-gradient aortic valve stenosis myocardial fibrosis and its influence on function and outcome. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011 Jul 19;58(4):402–12.
- 22. Lazzeroni D, Rimoldi O, Camici PG. From Left Ventricular Hypertrophy to Dysfunction and Failure. Circ J. 2016;80(3):555–64.
- 23. Himmelmann A. Hypertension: an important precursor of heart failure. Blood Press. 1999;8(5– 6):253–60.
- 24. Authors/Task Force Members, Vahanian A, Alfieri O, Andreotti F, Antunes MJ, Barón-Esquivias G, Baumgartner H, Borger MA, Carrel TP, De Bonis M, Evangelista A, Falk V, Iung B, Lancellotti P, Pierard L, Price S, Schäfers H-J, Schuler G, Stepinska J, Swedberg K, Takkenberg J, Von Oppell UO, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Zembala M, ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG), Bax JJ, Baumgartner H, Ceconi C, Dean V, Deaton C, Fagard R, Funck-Brentano C, Hasdai D, Hoes A, Kirchhof P, Knuuti J, Kolh P, McDonagh T, Moulin C, Popescu BA, Reiner Ž, Sechtem U, Sirnes PA, Tendera M, Torbicki A, Vahanian A, Windecker S, Document Reviewers:, Popescu BA, Von Segesser L, Badano LP, Bunc M, Claeys MJ, Drinkovic N, Filippatos G, Habib G, Kappetein AP, Kassab R, Lip GYH, Moat N, Nickenig G, Otto CM, Pepper J, Piazza N, Pieper PG, Rosenhek R, Shuka N, Schwammenthal E, Schwitter J, Mas PT, Trindade PT, Walther T. Guidelines on the management of valvular heart disease (version 2012): The Joint Task Force on the Management of Valvular Heart Disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J. 2012 Oct 1;33(19):2451–96.
- Nkomo VT, Gardin JM, Skelton TN, Gottdiener JS, Scott CG, Enriquez-Sarano M. Burden of valvular heart diseases: a population-based study. Lancet Lond Engl. 2006 Sep 16;368(9540):1005–11.
- 26. Chin CWL, Everett RJ, Kwiecinski J, Vesey AT, Yeung E, Esson G, Jenkins W, Koo M, Mirsadraee S, White AC, Japp AG, Prasad SK, Semple S, Newby DE, Dweck MR. Myocardial

Fibrosis and Cardiac Decompensation in Aortic Stenosis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017 Nov;10(11):1320–33.

- Samak M, Fatullayev J, Sabashnikov A, Zeriouh M, Schmack B, Farag M, Popov A-F, Dohmen PM, Choi Y-H, Wahlers T, Weymann A. Cardiac Hypertrophy: An Introduction to Molecular and Cellular Basis. Med Sci Monit Basic Res. 2016 Jul 23;22:75–9.
- Atsma F, Bartelink M-LEL, Grobbee DE, van der Schouw YT. Postmenopausal status and early menopause as independent risk factors for cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. Menopause N Y N. 2006 Apr;13(2):265–79.
- 29. Rahman I, Åkesson A, Wolk A. Relationship between age at natural menopause and risk of heart failure. Menopause N Y N. 2015 Jan;22(1):12–6.
- Appiah D, Schreiner PJ, Demerath EW, Loehr LR, Chang PP, Folsom AR. Association of Age at Menopause With Incident Heart Failure: A Prospective Cohort Study and Meta-Analysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016 Jul 28;5(8).
- Crandall CJ, Barrett-Connor E. Endogenous sex steroid levels and cardiovascular disease in relation to the menopause: a systematic review. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2013 Jun;42(2):227–53.
- 32. Vitale C, Fini M, Speziale G, Chierchia S. Gender differences in the cardiovascular effects of sex hormones. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2010 Dec;24(6):675–85.
- 33. Qiao X, McConnell KR, Khalil RA. Sex steroids and vascular responses in hypertension and aging. Gend Med. 2008;5 Suppl A:S46-64.
- 34. Vitale C, Mercuro G, Cerquetani E, Marazzi G, Patrizi R, Pelliccia F, Volterrani M, Fini M, Collins P, Rosano GMC. Time since menopause influences the acute and chronic effect of estrogens on endothelial function. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008 Feb;28(2):348–52.
- Li XP, Zhou Y, Zhao S-P, Gao M, Zhou Q, Li Y-S. Effect of endogenous estrogen on endothelial function in women with coronary heart disease and its mechanism. Clin Chim Acta Int J Clin Chem. 2004 Jan;339(1–2):183–8.
- Kok HS, van Asselt KM, van der Schouw YT, van der Tweel I, Peeters PHM, Wilson PWF, Pearson PL, Grobbee DE. Heart disease risk determines menopausal age rather than the reverse. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006 May 16;47(10):1976–83.
- 37. Muka T, Oliver-Williams C, Kunutsor S, Laven JSE, Fauser BCJM, Chowdhury R, Kavousi M, Franco OH. Association of Age at Onset of Menopause and Time Since Onset of Menopause With Cardiovascular Outcomes, Intermediate Vascular Traits, and All-Cause Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Cardiol. 2016 Oct 1;1(7):767–76.
- 38. Li Y, Zhao D, Wang M, Sun J-Y, Liu J, Qi Y, Hao Y-C, Deng Q-J, Liu J, Liu J, Liu M. Combined effect of menopause and cardiovascular risk factors on death and cardiovascular disease: a cohort study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2021 Feb 23;21(1):109.
- Leening MJG, Ferket BS, Steyerberg EW, Kavousi M, Deckers JW, Nieboer D, Heeringa J, Portegies MLP, Hofman A, Ikram MA, Hunink MGM, Franco OH, Stricker BH, Witteman JCM, Roos-Hesselink JW. Sex differences in lifetime risk and first manifestation of cardiovascular disease: prospective population based cohort study. BMJ. 2014 Nov 17;349:g5992.
- 40. Cleland JGF, Swedberg K, Follath F, Komajda M, Cohen-Solal A, Aguilar JC, Dietz R, Gavazzi A, Hobbs R, Korewicki J, Madeira HC, Moiseyev VS, Preda I, van Gilst WH, Widimsky J, Freemantle N, Eastaugh J, Mason J, Study Group on Diagnosis of the Working Group on Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology. The EuroHeart Failure survey programme-- a survey on the quality of care among patients with heart failure in Europe. Part 1: patient characteristics and diagnosis. Eur Heart J. 2003 Mar;24(5):442–63.

- 41. Sabbatini AR, Kararigas G. Menopause-Related Estrogen Decrease and the Pathogenesis of HFpEF: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020 Mar 10;75(9):1074–82.
- 42. Brann A, Tran H, Greenberg B. Contemporary approach to treating heart failure. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2020 Nov;30(8):507–18.
- 43. Hernandez AF, Hammill BG, O'Connor CM, Schulman KA, Curtis LH, Fonarow GC. Clinical Effectiveness of Beta-Blockers in Heart Failure: Findings From the OPTIMIZE-HF Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009 Jan 13;53(2):184–92.
- Nambiar L, Meyer M. β-Blockers in myocardial infarction and coronary artery disease with a preserved ejection fraction: recommendations, mechanisms, and concerns. Coron Artery Dis. 2018 May;29(3):262–70.
- 45. Wu J, Dai F, Li C, Zou Y. Gender Differences in Cardiac Hypertrophy. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2020 Feb 1;13(1):73–84.
- Carroll JD, Carroll EP, Feldman T, Ward DM, Lang RM, McGaughey D, Karp RB. Sexassociated differences in left ventricular function in aortic stenosis of the elderly. Circulation. 1992 Oct;86(4):1099–107.
- 47. Aurigemma GP, Gaasch WH. Gender differences in older patients with pressure-overload hypertrophy of the left ventricle. Cardiology. 1995;86(4):310–7.
- 48. Aurigemma GP, Silver KH, McLaughlin M, Mauser J, Gaasch WH. Impact of chamber geometry and gender on left ventricular systolic function in patients > 60 years of age with aortic stenosis. Am J Cardiol. 1994 Oct 15;74(8):794–8.
- Kostkiewicz M, Tracz W, Olszowska M, Podolec P, Drop D. Left ventricular geometry and function in patients with aortic stenosis: gender differences. Int J Cardiol. 1999 Sep 30;71(1):57– 61.
- Rohde LE, Zhi G, Aranki SF, Beckel NE, Lee RT, Reimold SC. Gender-associated differences in left ventricular geometry in patients with aortic valve disease and effect of distinct overload subsets. Am J Cardiol. 1997 Aug 15;80(4):475–80.
- Villari B, Campbell SE, Schneider J, Vassalli G, Chiariello M, Hess OM. Sex-dependent differences in left ventricular function and structure in chronic pressure overload. Eur Heart J. 1995 Oct;16(10):1410–9.
- 52. Dobson LE, Fairbairn TA, Musa TA, Uddin A, Mundie CA, Swoboda PP, Ripley DP, McDiarmid AK, Erhayiem B, Garg P, Malkin CJ, Blackman DJ, Sharples LD, Plein S, Greenwood JP. Sexrelated differences in left ventricular remodeling in severe aortic stenosis and reverse remodeling after aortic valve replacement: A cardiovascular magnetic resonance study. Am Heart J. 2016 May;175:101–11.
- 53. Merz AA, Cheng S. Sex differences in cardiovascular ageing. Heart Br Card Soc. 2016 Jun 1;102(11):825–31.
- Douglas PS, Otto CM, Mickel MC, Labovitz A, Reid CL, Davis KB. Gender differences in left ventricle geometry and function in patients undergoing balloon dilatation of the aortic valve for isolated aortic stenosis. NHLBI Balloon Valvuloplasty Registry. Br Heart J. 1995 Jun;73(6):548– 54.
- 55. Petrov G, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Lehmkuhl E, Krabatsch T, Dunkel A, Dandel M, Dworatzek E, Mahmoodzadeh S, Schubert C, Becher E, Hampl H, Hetzer R. Regression of myocardial hypertrophy after aortic valve replacement: faster in women? Circulation. 2010 Sep 14;122(11 Suppl):S23-28.

- 56. Treibel TA, Kozor R, Fontana M, Torlasco C, Reant P, Badiani S, Espinoza M, Yap J, Diez J, Hughes AD, Lloyd G, Moon JC. Sex Dimorphism in the Myocardial Response to Aortic Stenosis. Jacc Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018 Jul;11(7):962–73.
- 57. Cramariuc D, Rogge BP, Lønnebakken MT, Boman K, Bahlmann E, Gohlke-Bärwolf C, Chambers JB, Pedersen TR, Gerdts E. Sex differences in cardiovascular outcome during progression of aortic valve stenosis. Heart Br Card Soc. 2015 Feb;101(3):209–14.
- 58. Saad M, Nairooz R, Pothineni NVK, Almomani A, Kovelamudi S, Sardar P, Katz M, Abdel-Wahab M, Bangalore S, Kleiman NS, Block PC, Abbott JD. Long-Term Outcomes With Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement in Women Compared With Men: Evidence From a Meta-Analysis. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2018 Jan 8;11(1):24–35.
- 59. O'Meara E, Clayton T, McEntegart MB, McMurray JJV, Piña IL, Granger CB, Ostergren J, Michelson EL, Solomon SD, Pocock S, Yusuf S, Swedberg K, Pfeffer MA, CHARM Investigators. Sex differences in clinical characteristics and prognosis in a broad spectrum of patients with heart failure: results of the Candesartan in Heart failure: Assessment of Reduction in Mortality and morbidity (CHARM) program. Circulation. 2007 Jun 19;115(24):3111–20.
- 60. Aimo A, Vergaro G, Castiglione V, Barison A, Pasanisi E, Petersen C, Chubuchny V, Giannoni A, Poletti R, Maffei S, Januzzi JL, Passino C, Emdin M. Effect of Sex on Reverse Remodeling in Chronic Systolic Heart Failure. JACC Heart Fail. 2017 Oct;5(10):735–42.
- 61. Ibrahim NE, Piña IL, Camacho A, Bapat D, Felker GM, Maisel AS, Butler J, Prescott MF, Abbas CA, Solomon SD, Januzzi JL, Prospective Study of Biomarkers, Symptom Improvement and Ventricular Remodeling During Entresto Therapy for Heart Failure (PROVE-HF) Study Investigators. Sex-based differences in biomarkers, health status, and reverse cardiac remodelling in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction treated with sacubitril/valsartan. Eur J Heart Fail. 2020 Nov;22(11):2018–25.
- 62. Ghali JK. Sex-related differences in heart failure and beta-blockers. Heart Fail Rev. 2004 Apr;9(2):149–59.
- Blenck CL, Harvey PA, Reckelhoff JF, Leinwand LA. The Importance of Biological Sex and Estrogen in Rodent Models of Cardiovascular Health and Disease. Circ Res. 2016 Apr 15;118(8):1294–312.
- 64. deAlmeida AC, van Oort RJ, Wehrens XHT. Transverse aortic constriction in mice. J Vis Exp JoVE. 2010 Apr 21;(38).
- 65. Patten RD, Hall-Porter MR. Small animal models of heart failure: development of novel therapies, past and present. Circ Heart Fail. 2009 Mar;2(2):138–44.
- 66. Fliegner D, Schubert C, Penkalla A, Witt H, Kararigas G, Kararigas G, Dworatzek E, Staub E, Martus P, Ruiz Noppinger P, Kintscher U, Gustafsson J-A, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Female sex and estrogen receptor-beta attenuate cardiac remodeling and apoptosis in pressure overload. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2010 Jun;298(6):R1597-1606.
- Weinberg EO, Thienelt CD, Katz SE, Bartunek J, Tajima M, Rohrbach S, Douglas PS, Lorell BH. Gender differences in molecular remodeling in pressure overload hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999 Jul;34(1):264–73.
- Douglas PS, Katz SE, Weinberg EO, Chen MH, Bishop SP, Lorell BH. Hypertrophic remodeling: gender differences in the early response to left ventricular pressure overload. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1998 Oct;32(4):1118–25.
- Kararigas G, Fliegner D, Forler S, Klein O, Schubert C, Gustafsson J-Å, Klose J, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Comparative proteomic analysis reveals sex and estrogen receptor β effects in the pressure overloaded heart. J Proteome Res. 2014 Dec 5;13(12):5829–36.

- Witt H, Schubert C, Jaekel J, Fliegner D, Penkalla A, Tiemann K, Stypmann J, Roepcke S, Brokat S, Mahmoodzadeh S, Brozova E, Davidson MM, Ruiz Noppinger P, Grohé C, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Sex-specific pathways in early cardiac response to pressure overload in mice. J Mol Med Berl Ger. 2008 Sep;86(9):1013–24.
- 71. Westphal C, Schubert C, Prelle K, Penkalla A, Fliegner D, Petrov G, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Effects of Estrogen, an ERα Agonist and Raloxifene on Pressure Overload Induced Cardiac Hypertrophy. PLoS ONE [Internet]. 2012 Dec 5 [cited 2021 Apr 12];7(12). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3515519/
- 72. Prévilon M, Pezet M, Vinet L, Mercadier J-J, Rouet-Benzineb P. Gender-Specific Potential Inhibitory Role of Ca2+/Calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase Phosphatase (CaMKP) in Pressure-Overloaded Mouse Heart. PLOS ONE. 2014 Mar 7;9(3):e90822.
- Montalvo C, Villar AV, Merino D, García R, Ares M, Llano M, Cobo M, Hurlé MA, Nistal JF. Androgens Contribute to Sex Differences in Myocardial Remodeling under Pressure Overload by a Mechanism Involving TGF-β. PLOS ONE. 2012 Apr 25;7(4):e35635.
- 74. Donaldson C, Eder S, Baker C, Aronovitz MJ, Weiss AD, Hall-Porter M, Wang F, Ackerman A, Karas RH, Molkentin JD, Patten RD. Estrogen attenuates left ventricular and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by an estrogen receptor-dependent pathway that increases calcineurin degradation. Circ Res. 2009 Jan 30;104(2):265–75, 11p following 275.
- 75. Skavdahl M, Steenbergen C, Clark J, Myers P, Demianenko T, Mao L, Rockman HA, Korach KS, Murphy E. Estrogen receptor-beta mediates male-female differences in the development of pressure overload hypertrophy. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005 Feb;288(2):H469-476.
- Loyer X, Damy T, Chvojkova Z, Robidel E, Marotte F, Oliviero P, Heymes C, Samuel J-L. 17beta-estradiol regulates constitutive nitric oxide synthase expression differentially in the myocardium in response to pressure overload. Endocrinology. 2007 Oct;148(10):4579–84.
- 77. Pedram A, Razandi M, Aitkenhead M, Levin ER. Estrogen Inhibits Cardiomyocyte Hypertrophy in Vitro. J Biol Chem. 2005 Jul 15;280(28):26339–48.
- Wang H, Sun X, Chou J, Lin M, Ferrario CM, Zapata-Sudo G, Groban L. Cardiomyocyte-specific deletion of the G protein-coupled estrogen receptor (GPER) leads to left ventricular dysfunction and adverse remodeling: A sex-specific gene profiling analysis. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. 2017 Aug;1863(8):1870–82.
- 79. Boheler KR, Volkova M, Morrell C, Garg R, Zhu Y, Margulies K, Seymour A-M, Lakatta EG. Sexand age-dependent human transcriptome variability: Implications for chronic heart failure. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2003 Mar 4;100(5):2754–9.
- 80. Isensee J, Witt H, Pregla R, Hetzer R, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Ruiz Noppinger P. Sexually dimorphic gene expression in the heart of mice and men. J Mol Med Berl Ger. 2008 Jan;86(1):61–74.
- Villar AV, Llano M, Cobo M, Expósito V, Merino R, Martín-Durán R, Hurlé MA, Nistal JF. Gender differences of echocardiographic and gene expression patterns in human pressure overload left ventricular hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2009 Apr;46(4):526–35.
- Petrov G, Dworatzek E, Schulze TM, Dandel M, Kararigas G, Mahmoodzadeh S, Knosalla C, Hetzer R, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Maladaptive remodeling is associated with impaired survival in women but not in men after aortic valve replacement. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014 Nov;7(11):1073–80.
- 83. Kararigas G, Dworatzek E, Petrov G, Summer H, Schulze TM, Baczko I, Knosalla C, Golz S, Hetzer R, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Sex-dependent regulation of fibrosis and inflammation in human left ventricular remodelling under pressure overload. Eur J Heart Fail. 2014 Nov;16(11):1160–7.

- Daniels A, van Bilsen M, Goldschmeding R, van der Vusse GJ, van Nieuwenhoven FA. Connective tissue growth factor and cardiac fibrosis. Acta Physiol Oxf Engl. 2009 Mar;195(3):321–38.
- 85. Dorn LE, Petrosino JM, Wright P, Accornero F. CTGF/CCN2 is an autocrine regulator of cardiac fibrosis. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2018 Aug;121:205–11.
- 86. Chen C-C, Lau LF. Functions and mechanisms of action of CCN matricellular proteins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2009 Apr;41(4):771–83.
- Koentges C, Pepin ME, Müsse C, Pfeil K, Alvarez SVV, Hoppe N, Hoffmann MM, Odening KE, Sossalla S, Zirlik A, Hein L, Bode C, Wende AR, Bugger H. Gene expression analysis to identify mechanisms underlying heart failure susceptibility in mice and humans. Basic Res Cardiol. 2018 Jan 8;113(1):8.
- Kuusisto J, Kärjä V, Sipola P, Kholová I, Peuhkurinen K, Jääskeläinen P, Naukkarinen A, Ylä-Herttuala S, Punnonen K, Laakso M. Low-grade inflammation and the phenotypic expression of myocardial fibrosis in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Heart Br Card Soc. 2012 Jul;98(13):1007– 13.
- Devereux RB, Alonso DR, Lutas EM, Gottlieb GJ, Campo E, Sachs I, Reichek N. Echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular hypertrophy: comparison to necropsy findings. Am J Cardiol. 1986 Feb 15;57(6):450–8.
- 90. Lang RM, Badano LP, Mor-Avi V, Afilalo J, Armstrong A, Ernande L, Flachskampf FA, Foster E, Goldstein SA, Kuznetsova T, Lancellotti P, Muraru D, Picard MH, Rietzschel ER, Rudski L, Spencer KT, Tsang W, Voigt J-U. Recommendations for cardiac chamber quantification by echocardiography in adults: an update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. J Am Soc Echocardiogr Off Publ Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2015 Jan;28(1):1-39.e14.
- 91. Huber PJ. Robust Statistics. John Wiley & Sons; 2004. 334 p.
- 92. Venables WN, Ripley BD. Modern Applied Statistics with S. 4th ed. New York: Springer-Verlag; 2002, ISBN : 978-1-4419-3008-8
- 93. Kieschnick R, McCullough BD. Regression analysis of variates observed on (0, 1): percentages, proportions and fractions. Stat Model. 2003 Oct 1;3(3):193–213.
- 94. Kronmal RA. Spurious Correlation and the Fallacy of the Ratio Standard Revisited. J R Stat Soc Ser A. 1993;156(3):379–92.
- 95. Nakamura M, Sadoshima J. Mechanisms of physiological and pathological cardiac hypertrophy. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2018 Jul;15(7):387–407.
- 96. Akazawa Hiroshi, Komuro Issei. Roles of Cardiac Transcription Factors in Cardiac Hypertrophy. Circ Res. 2003 May 30;92(10):1079–88.
- Santos-Faria J, Gavina C, Rodrigues P, Coelho J, da Costa Martins P, Leite-Moreira A, Falcão-Pires I. MicroRNAs and ventricular remodeling in aortic stenosis. Rev Port Cardiol Orgao Of Soc Port Cardiol Port J Cardiol Off J Port Soc Cardiol. 2020 Jul;39(7):377–87.

## Eidesstattliche Versicherung und Anteilserklärung

"Ich, Léa Gaignebet, versichere an Eides statt durch meine eigenhändige Unterschrift, dass ich die vorgelegte Dissertation mit dem Thema: "Sex-specific gene expression in human cardiomyocytes subjected to left ventricular pressure overload / Geschlechtsspezifische Genexpression in durch linksventrikuläre Drucküberbelastung beeinflussten humanen Kardiomyozyten" selbstständig und ohne nicht offengelegte Hilfe Dritter verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel genutzt habe.

Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder dem Sinne nach auf Publikationen oder Vorträgen anderer Autoren/innen beruhen, sind als solche in korrekter Zitierung kenntlich gemacht. Die Abschnitte zu Methodik (insbesondere praktische Arbeiten, Laborbestimmungen, statistische Aufarbeitung) und Resultaten (insbesondere Abbildungen, Graphiken und Tabellen) werden von mir verantwortet.

Ich versichere ferner, dass ich die in Zusammenarbeit mit anderen Personen generierten Daten, Datenauswertungen und Schlussfolgerungen korrekt gekennzeichnet und meinen eigenen Beitrag sowie die Beiträge anderer Personen korrekt kenntlich gemacht habe (siehe Anteilserklärung). Texte oder Textteile, die gemeinsam mit anderen erstellt oder verwendet wurden, habe ich korrekt kenntlich gemacht.

Meine Anteile an etwaigen Publikationen zu dieser Dissertation entsprechen denen, die in der untenstehenden gemeinsamen Erklärung mit dem Erstbetreuer, angegeben sind. Für sämtliche im Rahmen der Dissertation entstandenen Publikationen wurden die Richtlinien des ICMJE (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors; <u>www.icmje.og</u>) zur Autorenschaft eingehalten. Ich erkläre ferner, dass ich mich zur Einhaltung der Satzung der Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin zur Sicherung Guter Wissenschaftlicher Praxis verpflichte.

Weiterhin versichere ich, dass ich diese Dissertation weder in gleicher noch in ähnlicher Form bereits an einer anderen Fakultät eingereicht habe.

Die Bedeutung dieser eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unwahren eidesstattlichen Versicherung (§§156, 161 des Strafgesetzbuches) sind mir bekannt und bewusst."

Datum

Unterschrift

## Anteilserklärung an den erfolgten Publikationen

Léa Gaignebet hatte folgenden Anteil an der folgenden Publikation:

## Sex-Specific Human Cardiomyocyte Gene Regulation in Left Ventricular Pressure Overload.

Gaignebet L, Kańduła MM, Lehmann D, Knosalla C, Kreil DP, Kararigas G. Mayo Clin Proc. 2020 Apr;95(4):688-697. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026. Epub 2020 Jan 15. PMID: 31954524.

Beitrag im Einzelnen:

Idee: Kararigas G

Datensuche: Gaignebet L, Kararigas G

Patientenrekrutierung und -aufklärung: Gaignebet L, Knosalla C

Probenasservierung und -verarbeitung, Datengenerierung – und analyse: Gaignebet L, Lehmann D

Statistische Aufarbeitung: Gaignebet L (Table 1, Fig. 1), Kańduła MM (Table 2 and 3, Fig. 2)

Text: (Abstract, Einführung, Methode außer "Statistical analysis", Ergebnisse außer "Relationship Between Gene Expression and EF"): Gaignebet L, Kararigas G

Text: (Methoden: Statistische Aufarbeitung, Ergebnisse: "Relationship Between Gene Expression and Diskussion): Kańduła MM

Supervision, Corrections: Kreil DP, Kararigas G

Unterschrift der Doktorandin

## Auszug aus der "Journal Summary List"

Journal Data Filtered By: Selected JCR Year: 2018 Selected Editions: SCIE,SSCISelected Categories: "MEDICINE, GENERAL and INTERNAL" Selected Category Scheme: WoS Gesamtanzahl: 160 Journale

Rank	Full Journal Title	Total Cites	Journal Impact Factor	Eigenfactor Score
1	NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE	344,581	70.670	0.686700
2	LANCET	247,292	59.102	0.427870
3	JAMA-JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN MEDICAL ASSOCIATION	156,350	51.273	0.300810
4	Nature Reviews Disease Primers	4,339	32.274	0.019740
5	BMJ-British Medical Journal	112,901	27.604	0.152760
6	JAMA Internal Medicine	15,215	20.768	0.095580
7	ANNALS OF INTERNAL MEDICINE	57,057	19.315	0.096020
8	PLOS MEDICINE	30,689	11.048	0.071200
9	Journal of Cachexia Sarcopenia and Muscle	2,799	10.754	0.005870
10	BMC Medicine	13,630	8.285	0.045220
11	Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews	67,607	7.755	0.158690
12	MAYO CLINIC PROCEEDINGS	14,695	7.091	0.025750
13	CANADIAN MEDICAL ASSOCIATION JOURNAL	15,351	6.938	0.016500
14	JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE	10,547	6.051	0.015700
15	Journal of Clinical Medicine	2,315	5.688	0.007210
16	MEDICAL JOURNAL OF AUSTRALIA	11,134	5.332	0.012600
17	PALLIATIVE MEDICINE	5,682	4.956	0.009860



## Sex-Specific Human Cardiomyocyte Gene Regulation in Left Ventricular Pressure Overload

Lea Gaignebet, MB; Maciej M. Kańduła, PhD; Daniel Lehmann, MS; Christoph Knosalla, MD; David P. Kreil, PhD; and Georgios Kararigas, PhD

#### Abstract

**Objective**: To assess gene expression in cardiomyocytes isolated from patients with aortic stenosis, hypothesizing that maladaptive remodeling and inflammation-related genes are higher in male vs female patients.

**Patients and Methods:** In this study, 34 patients with aortic stenosis undergoing aortic valve replacement from March 20, 2016, through May 24, 2017, at the German Heart Centre in Berlin, Germany, were included. Isolated cardiomyocytes from interventricular septum samples were used for gene expression analysis. Clinical and echocardiographic data were collected preoperatively.

**Results**: Age, body mass index, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, comorbidities, and medication were similar between the 17 male and 17 female patients. The mean  $\pm$  SD left ventricular end-diastolic diameter (52 $\pm$ 9 vs 45 $\pm$ 4 mm; *P*=.007) and posterior wall thickness (14.2 $\pm$ 2.5 vs 12.1 $\pm$ 1.6 mm; *P*=.03) were higher in male vs female patients, while ejection fraction was lower in male patients (49% $\pm$ 14% vs 59% $\pm$ 5%; *P*=.01). Focusing on structural genes involved in the development of cardiac hypertrophy and remodeling, we found that most were expressed higher in male vs female patients. Our modeling analysis revealed that 2 inflammation-related genes, *CCN2* and *NFKB1*, were negatively related to ejection fraction, with this effect being male specific (*P*=.03 and *P*=.02, respectively).

**Conclusion:** These findings provide novel insight into cardiomyocyte-specific molecular changes related to sex differences in pressure overload and a significant male-specific association between cardiac function and inflammation-related genes. Considering these sex differences may contribute toward a more accurate design of research and the development of more appropriate therapeutic approaches for both male and female patients.

© 2019 Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research 
Mayo Clin Proc. 2019;mm(m):1-10

he pressure overload (PO) that develops in aortic stenosis (AS) or hypertension leads to left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy (LVH). The initial compensatory mechanism is expected to reduce wall stress and to maintain systolic function of the heart. In later stages, the myocardium undergoes pathologic molecular, cellular, and tissue changes. This maladaptive LV remodeling includes reactivation of the fetal gene program, induction of fibrosis, and dilation, ultimately contributing to the development of heart failure (HF).

The development of PO-induced LVH differs significantly between men and women.<sup>1</sup> In particular, sex-specific LV remodeling leads to a more concentric form of LVH in women. This structural adaptation of LV geometry can be described by less LV dilation and wall thinning in female than in male hearts.<sup>2</sup> However, the molecular mechanisms contributing to these sex differences are incompletely understood. So far, analysis of cardiac biopsy specimens from patients with AS has revealed a higher level of fibrosis-related genes in male hearts.<sup>3,4</sup> Studies in



O

Mayo Clin Proc. = XXX 2019;==(w):1-10 = https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026 www.mayoclinicproceedings.org = © 2019 Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research

TABLE 1. Baseline and Echocardiographic Characteristics of the Study Patients <sup>a,b</sup>							
Variable	Total (N=34)	Male (n=17)	Female (n=17)	P value			
Age (y)	68±9	68±10	69±8	.49			
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	28±4.9	28±3.0	28±5.2	.93			
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	133±24	133±19	133±31	.98			
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	72±11	74±10	70±12	.32			
Diabetes mellitus	12 (38)	8 (47)	4 (24)	.15			
Hyperlipidemia	14 (41)	7 (41)	7 (41)	>.99			
Hypertension	25 (73)	13 (76)	12 (71)	.69			
Coronary artery disease	16 (47)	9 (52)	7 (41)	.40			
ACE inhibitors	15 (42)	8 (47)	7 (41)	.69			
ATI receptor antagonists	10 (29)	5 (29)	5 (29)	.78			
β-Blockers	19 (55)	12 (71)	7 (41)	.08			
Diuretics	12 (35)	7 (41)	6 (35)	.68			
Calcium antagonists	7 (21)	(6)	6 (35)	.03			
Statins	20 (59)	13 (77)	7 (41)	.04			
LVEDD (mm)	48±7	52±9	45±4	.007			
Interventricular septum (mm)	14.4±2.8	15.3±3.2	13.6±2.2	.07			
Posterior wall thickness (mm)	$13.2 \pm 2.3$	$14.2 \pm 2.5$	2. ± .6	.03			
Left ventricular mass index (g/m²)	140±41	158±45	123±29	.04			
Relative wall thickness	0.55±0.10	0.60±0.12	±0.12 0.50±0.08				
Aortic valve area index (cm²/m²)	0.40±0.16	0.40±0.19	0.40±0.14	.96			
Mean pressure gradient (mm Hg)	42±13	39±12	45±14	.17			
Maximal pressure gradient (mm Hg)	64±18	57±15	57±15 69±19				
Left ventricular ejection fraction (%)	54±11	49±14	59±5	.01			
$^{a}$ ACE = angiotensin-converting enzyme ATI = angiotensin    type   recentor   VEDD = left							

<sup>10</sup>Data are presented as mean ± SD or No. (percentage) of patients.

vala are presented as mean  $\pm$  50 or 140, (percentage) of patients.

animals have also identified higher levels of fibrotic and hypertrophic mediators, as well as lower levels of mitochondrial factors, in male vs female LV tissues under PO.<sup>5-9</sup>

However, the investigation of these sex differences has been based on multicellular LV tissue samples. Consequently, the use of whole tissues leads to the loss of information on cell-specific gene regulation.<sup>10</sup> The heart consists of a number of different cell types that coordinately regulate cardiac physiology and the response to injury.<sup>11</sup> Given the fundamental role of cardiomyocytes in myocardial function, our goal was to assess gene expression in isolated human cardiomyocytes. We focused on genes relevant for cardiomyocyte function and adaptation, including hypertrophic markers and genes involved in LV remodeling. We hypothesized that the cardiomyocyte levels of maladaptive remodeling genes are higher in male vs female patients and that there is a male-specific association between ejection fraction (EF) and the expression of inflammation-related genes.

### PATIENTS AND METHODS

### **Study Population**

For this exploratory study, 34 patients (17 [50.0%] male) with AS undergoing aortic valve replacement (AVR) from March 20, 2016, through May 24, 2017, at the German Heart Centre in Berlin, Germany, were recruited. Inclusion criteria were informed consent and availability of septum biopsy specimens. Exclusion criteria were emergency operation, reoperation, transcatheter AVR, more than mild aortic regurgitation, or other severe concomitant mitral or tricuspid valve disease, as well as infectious diseases such as endocarditis, myocarditis, or hepatitis. The baseline characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 1. The study was approved by the local ethics committee and conforms with the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki. Written consent was obtained from all patients.

### Echocardiographic Analysis

Patients underwent 2-dimensional M-mode transthoracic echocardiography during the week before AVR. The M-mode tracings were digitally recorded and analyzed. Ejection fraction was calculated using the Quiñones formula and LV mass using the Devereux formula.<sup>12,13</sup> Left ventricular mass was indexed on body surface area to calculate the LV mass index, and relative wall thickness was calculated as 2 × LV posterior wall thickness at end-diastole/LV end-diastolic diameter. Aortic valve area was calculated with the continuity equation and indexed on body surface to obtain the aortic valve area index. Pressure gradients were calculated with the Bernoulli equation.

Mayo Clin Proc. XXX 2019;==(m):1-10 = https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026 www.mayoclinicproceedings.org

#### Cardiomyocyte Isolation

During AVR, myocardial biopsy specimens were obtained from the interventricular septum and quickly transported from the operating room to the laboratory in a Tyrode solution, oxygenated and supplemented with 2,3-butanedione monoxime.14 Cardiomyocytes were isolated as previously described.<sup>15</sup> Briefly, following tissue collection, any fat was removed and samples were cut in 1-mm pieces. The pieces were put in an enzymatic solution containing 0.5 mg/mL collagenase and 0.5 mg/mL proteinase for digestion, followed by another digestion step in 0.4 mg/mL collagenase. Following centrifugation in a bovine serum albumin solution, isolated cells were frozen in RNAzol (Sigma-Aldrich) and stored at -80°C until further processing.

### **Quantitative Reverse**

Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction Reverse transcription and quantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction were performed as described previously.16,17 Total RNA was reverse transcribed and amplified using One-Step RT qPCR MasterMix (Eurogentec). Reactions in which RNA or reverse transcriptase had been omitted were used as negative controls. Polymerase chain reaction products were obtained using genespecific, intron-spanning primers and SYBR Green (Applied Biosystems) in an ABI PRISM 7000 instrument (Applied Biosystems). The levels of all candidate genes were normalized to HPRT1 (for expansion of gene symbols, use search tool at www. genenames.org) housekeeping messenger RNA levels. Primer sequences are presented in the Supplemental Table (available online at http://www.mayoclinicproceedings.org).

#### Statistical Analyses

Clinical and gene expression data were analyzed statistically using Prism 7 (Graph-Pad Software, Inc). Normality of the data was tested with the Shapiro-Wilk test and outliers with the Grubbs test. Depending on data distribution, either the unpaired ttest or the Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparisons between 2 groups. Comparisons for categorical variables were made with the  $\chi^2$  test or Fisher exact test. A value of *P* $\leq$ .05 was considered statistically significant.

Before fitting regression models, logit transformation was applied to all ratios to make them amenable to meaningful linear regression.<sup>18,19</sup> We used iterative inverse variance weighted least squares regression using an M-estimator with Huber  $\psi$  and median absolute deviation scale estimation as implemented by the rlm function of the MASS R library.<sup>20,21</sup> For an unbiased analysis, we considered all potential factors in regression models. In order to avoid overfitting in view of the available patient numbers, we first focused on the most simple models, each only including 1 of the 12 genes or 1 of the clinical features of age, sex, or body mass index. For all of these tests, we report a measure of evidence strength (Akaike information criterion) and significance (P value), characterizing the different models in Table 2. For each model, we then additionally performed leave-one-out robustness

TABLE 2. Models With One Regressor <sup>a.b</sup>								
Variable	β	SE	P value	AIC	Robust <5%	Robust <10%		
ACTCI	03	0.02	.08	32.46	1/24	8/24		
CCN2	15	0.06	.02	31.86	22/24	24/24		
GATA4	02	0.01	.07	35.08	3/24	15/24		
GJAI	04	0.02	.04	35.22	9/24	21/24		
MYH6	04	0.02	.04	35.36	7/24	20/24		
MYH7	06	0.02	.01	33.80	23/24	23/24		
MYL2	04	0.02	.01	34.92	21/24	23/24		
MYL3	02	0.02	.25	36.98	0/24	2/24		
MYL4	—.0 I	0.01	.12	35.83	0/24	6/24		
NFKBI	12	0.05	.01	29.83	24/24	24/24		
NPPA	01	0.01	.09	33.36	3/24	9/24		
NPPB	01	0.01	.55	35.57	0/24	0/24		
Age	.00	0.01	.68	39.87	0/24	0/24		
Sex	35	0.16	.04	35.50	14/24	24/24		
BMI	.01	0.02	.39	38.39	0/24	0/24		

<sup>a</sup>AIC = Akaike information criterion; BMI = body mass index. For expansion of gene symbols, use search tool at www.genenames.org.

 ${}^{b}\beta$  = model coefficient; SE = standard error of the  $\beta$  coefficient; P value = statistical significance of the model; AIC = assessed goodness of the model fit (lower values are better); Robust <5% or <10% = the number of leave-one-out robustness tests significant under the selected P value threshold. Bold entries are significant and robust and are the focus of our further analysis.

### ARTICLE IN PRESS

analysis. Specifically, for every variable considered, including every individual gene and clinical feature, we confirmed the relevance of the model variable by testing the significance of the model trained on a validation cohort that excludes a patient. This means that we split the 24 patients with measured EF into a group of 23 patients to train our regression model and 1 patient to be left out from this training. We did this 24 times, always removing a different patient and recording the significance of the regression model. If a model was significant for all 24 different subgroups of 23 patients, we report that the model is robust 24 of 24 times. This indicates that no single patient is alone responsible for the performance of the model, ensuring that results are not affected by outliers. We report robustness under 2 thresholds: 5% (ie, P<.05) and 10% (ie, P<.1). Examining the gene expression for the 2 robustly significant gene factors suggested that they may be sex specific. We expressly tested this hypothesis in a model of the sex-specific effects, assessing evidence strength, significance, and robustness as before (Table 3).

### RESULTS

#### Patient Characteristics

In this exploratory study, 34 patients (17 [50%] male) with AS undergoing AVR were included (Table 1). Age and body

TABLE 3. Models of the Interaction Between the Robustly Significant Genes and Sex <sup>a,b</sup>							
Variable	β	SE	P value	AIC	Robust <5%	Robust <10%	
CCN2:sex			.02	33.02	22/24	24/24	
CCN2:male	13	0.06	.02				
CCN2:female	.40	0.51	.41				
NFKB1:sex			.02	30.62	22/24	24/24	
NFKB1:male	10	0.05	.03				
NFKB1:female	.02	0.10	.81				

<sup>a</sup>AIC = Akaike information criterion. For expansion of gene symbols, use search tool at www. genenames.org.

 ${}^{b}\beta$  = model coefficient; SE = standard error of the  $\beta$  coefficient; P value = statistical significance of the model; AIC = assessed goodness of the model fit (lower values are better); Robust <5% or <10% = the number of leave-one-out robustness tests significant under the selected P value threshold. Bold entries are significant and robust and are the focus of our further analysis. mass index were comparable between male and female patients. Systolic and diastolic blood pressures were also similar between male and female patients. There was no statistically significant difference between male and female patients in the proportion of patients with diabetes (P=.15), arterial hypertension (P=.69), concomitant hyperlipidemia (P>.99), or coronary heart disease (P=.40). The number of patients treated with calcium antagonists was higher in female than in male patients. In contrast, there were more male patients treated with statins than female patients. No significant differences were observed between male and female patients in other relevant medications, such as use of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (P=.69), angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonists (P=.78),  $\beta$ -blockers (P=.08), and diuretics (P=.68).

### Echocardiographic Characterization

Echocardiographic assessment of the patients revealed significant sex differences (Table 1). The LV end-diastolic diameter was significantly higher in male than in female patients ( $52\pm9$  vs  $45\pm4$  mm; P=.007). Similarly, the posterior wall thickness ( $14.2\pm2.5$  vs  $12.1\pm1.6$  mm; P=.03) and LV mass index ( $158\pm45$  vs  $123\pm28$  g/ m<sup>2</sup>; P=.04) were higher in male patients. The EF was significantly lower in male than in female patients ( $49\%\pm14\%$  vs  $59\%\pm5\%$ ; P=.01). The aortic valve area index and transvalvular pressure gradients were similar between male and female patients.

### Gene Regulation in Isolated Cardiomyocytes of Male and Female Patients

In order to assess cardiomyocyte-specific gene expression between male and female patients, we collected samples from the interventricular septum during AVR and used these specimens to isolate cardiomyocytes. We focused on genes that lead to increased synthesis of structural proteins encoding actin cytoskeleton and cardiac muscle structural and contractile proteins, as well as inflammatory factors. These genes were ACTC1, CCN2, GATA4, GJA1, MYH6, MYH7, MYL2, MYL3, MYL4, NFKB1, NPPA, and NPPB. Our analysis revealed that the levels of most of these genes were higher in male cardiomyocytes than in female cardiomyocytes (Figure 1). Only the levels of MYH7, MYL2, and MYL3 were similar between male and female cardiomyocytes.

## Relationship Between Gene Expression and EF

Given the significant sex differences in cardiac function, as assessed by the EF, and in gene expression, we performed a systematic analysis of dependencies between the two. In order to identify relevant links between the EF and specific genes, we combined systematic statistical regression analysis with leave-one-out robustness testing for validation. We found statistically significant and highly robust gene-based models for the NFKB1 (P=.01) and CCN2 (P=.02) genes (Table 2). Our analysis revealed that a higher expression level of NFKB1 was negatively related to EF (P=.01, robust at <5% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts). Similarly, a higher expression level of CCN2 was negatively related to EF (P=.02, robust at <5% in 22 of 24 and <10% in 24 of 24 validation cohorts). Notably, a 2-fold increase of NFKB1 or CCN2 expression was related to an average reduction of the EF by 11% and 4%, respectively. Considering males and females separately, we identified that the change of EF was significantly different between the sexes (P<.001 for NFKB1 and P=.005 for CCN2). In particular, a 2-fold increase of NFKB1 expression was related to an average reduction of the EF by 17% in male patients and 7% in female patients (Figure 2A). In the case of CCN2, the average reduction of the EF was 8% and 1% in male and female patients, respectively (Figure 2B).

For each of these 2 robustly significant genes, we next investigated how the effect of their expression on the EF is influenced by sex. Even in this pilot cohort, it was possible to identify highly significant sexspecific effects (Table 3) that were strong enough to robustly yield significant models for the 2 genes: NFKB1-P=.02, robust at

less than 5% in 22 of 24 and less than 10% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts; CCN2—P=.02, robust at less than 10% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts. For both genes, regression for an explicit genesex interaction term revealed that higher expression was related to a reduced EF in male patients (P=.03 for NFKB1 and P=.02 for CCN2), while there was no significant effect in female patients (P=.81 for NFKB1 and P=.41 for CCN2; Figure 2C and Table 3). In particular, for NFKB1, a significant male-specific effect was detected (P=.04, robust at <5% in 22 of 24 and <10% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts), with a 2-fold increase yielding an average EF reduction of 15%. For CCN2, a significant male-specific effect was detected (P=.02, robust at <5% in 22 of 24 and <10% in 24 of 24 leave-one-out validation cohorts), with a 2-fold increase being related to an average reduction in EF of over 7%.

#### DISCUSSION

The present study is the first to show that in cardiomyocytes isolated from patients with AS, gene expression differs significantly between the sexes. In particular, the expression of a number of genes associated with maladaptive remodeling was higher in cardiomyocytes of male patients compared with female patients. An additional novel and important finding of this study is that the expression of 2 inflammatory genes, *CCN2* and *NFKB1*, was negatively related to EF and in a sex-specific manner.

The development of PO-induced LVH differs significantly between men and women.<sup>2,22,23</sup> To this extent, we found sexspecific remodeling of the heart. In particular, at a similar degree of LV outflow obstruction, male hearts had significantly increased LV end-diastolic diameter (P=.007) and decreased EF (P=.01) compared with female hearts. These sex differences in geometry and function may influence outcome. It has been reported that EF and mid-wall stress were better preserved during the progression of AS in women than in men.<sup>24,25</sup> This difference indicates that women develop initially a form of

Mayo Clin Proc. = XXX 2019;==(m):1-10 = https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026 www.mayoclinicproceedings.org

## **ARTICLE IN PRESS**



remodeling that is more adaptive to PO in terms of function. Of note, although the progression of the stenosis itself was not significantly different between the sexes, women had 31% lower all-cause mortality independent of treatment, age, or blood pressure.<sup>25</sup>

Previous studies investigating samples from patients and animals have provided



on a 2-fold increase in expression of the NFKB1 (A) and CCN2 (B) genes. In each box, the median is presented by the horizontal bold lines and the corresponding quartiles (whiskers) are shown. C, Plot showing the  $\beta$  coefficients of the genesex interaction terms with bars indicating standard errors for male (blue circles) and female (red diamonds) sex. Notably, the coefficients for male-specific effects have tight error bars, clearly excluding 0. Correspondingly, the NFKB1 and CCN2 effects for males are significantly different from 0 (*P*=.03 and *P*=.02, respectively). In contrast, the female-specific interaction terms are not statistically significant (*P*=.81 and *P*=.41, respectively), reflected by them not being distinguishable from 0, with 0 falling within the range of the error bars.

insight into potential mechanisms underlying sex differences in PO.3-9 However, they were based on multicellular LV tissue samples. Consequently, for this study our goal was to assess gene expression in cardiomyocytes isolated from patients with AS. As a pilot study, we took a targeted approach focusing on structural genes, because they are involved in the development of POinduced LVH and LV remodeling. We found that the expression of ACTC1, GJA1, MYL4, NPPA, and NPPB, which are associated with LVH and maladaptive LV remodeling,<sup>26</sup> was higher in male cardiomyocytes than in female cardiomyocytes. In addition, the levels of GATA4, which is an important transcription factor involved in the development of LVH and HF,<sup>27</sup> as well as the levels of its downstream targets MYH6 and NPPA, were higher in male cardiomyocytes than in female cardiomyocytes. Although several factors may influence disease progression and outcome,<sup>28,29</sup> the overall induction of these hypertrophic factors in male cardiomyocytes indicates maladaptive remodeling at the molecular level occurring in male patients and supports the view that they may play a key role in the worse outcome observed in men with PO. Notably, the novel finding of increased gene expression of maladaptive remodeling factors in cardiomyocytes of male patients compared with female patients suggests that the male and female hearts remodel differently through divergent mechanisms. This difference raises the question to what extent current knowledge, which mostly stems from research on males, is relevant for females, ultimately calling for more research in females.

We further identified that the expression of 2 inflammation-related genes, CCN2 and NFKB1, was higher in male cardiomyocytes compared with female cardiomyocytes, suggesting a male-specific activation of inflammatory factors. Of note, assessment of the relationship between these 2 genes and cardiac function revealed that their levels were negatively related to EF in male patients, pointing to the involvement of inflammatory factors with heart function and failure in a sex-specific manner. Inflammation is a necessary process that follows stress and injury, such as myocardial infarction and hypertrophy. Consequently, initial activation of inflammatory factors is crucial for the heart to maintain its integrity and function. However, persistent inflammation contributes to disease progression and may lead to HF.

Mayo Clin Proc. = XXX 2019;==(@):1-10 = https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026 www.mayoclinicproceedings.org

### ARTICLE IN PRESS

CCN2 encodes cellular communication network factor 2, also known as connective tissue growth factor, which is a member of the CCN family of cytokines. Nevertheless, CCN2 does not act as a traditional growth factor or cytokine but rather as a matricellular protein, induced by transforming growth factor  $\beta$ , as well as a cofactor for and downstream mediator of transforming growth factor  $\beta$ ,<sup>30,31</sup> thereby contributing to cardiac fibrosis.<sup>32</sup> The levels of CCN2 have been reported previously to be induced in cardiac tissues of humans and animals with HF<sup>30,33</sup> but have not been studied previously at an earlier phase of LV remodeling, ie, compensated LVH, or in isolated human cardiomyocytes. In fact, the role of cardiomyocyte-derived CCN2 is not clear, whereas fibroblast-derived CCN2 appears to be crucial for the development of cardiac fibrosis in mice.<sup>34</sup> We postulate that a proinflammatory role might be more relevant for cardiomyocyte-derived CCN2 (discussed below). Collectively, we propose that the increased expression of CCN2 in male cardiomyocytes under PO may contribute to increased vulnerability to cardiac dysfunction and worse prognosis in men.

NFKB1 codes for the nuclear factor kB subunit 1 (NF-kB), which belongs to a family of transcription factors playing a central role in immune and inflammatory responses. Rodent studies have linked NF-KB to the hypertrophic response of the heart. Its prolonged activation is detrimental, triggering chronic inflammation through the induction of inflammatory factors, ultimately leading to HF.35 Along this line, activation of NFκB has been reported in cardiac tissues of patients with HF,<sup>36,37</sup> but as with CCN2, any regulation of NF-KB at an earlier phase of LV remodeling or in isolated human cardiomyocytes is poorly understood. Interestingly, CCN2 has been found to activate NF-KB in the mouse aorta and kidney, thereby promoting proinflammatory factors and inflammatory cell infiltration.38,39 This finding suggests a proinflammatory role of CCN2 together with NF-KB in male cardiomyocytes. Their persistent induction might render male patients more prone to the development of HF with depressed systolic function.

Our modeling approach revealed that increasing the expression of CCN2 and NFKB1 2-fold yielded a 7% and 15% average reduction in EF of male patients, respectively. This finding suggests that malespecific activation of proinflammatory factors may contribute to LV remodeling and cardiac dysfunction. On the basis of this finding, we propose that male patients with compensated LVH might benefit from therapeutic interventions targeting CCN2 and NF-κB. This could address the unmet need for effective anti-inflammatory therapies, because, for example, antagonism of the proinflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor in HF has been discouraging.40,41 It must be noted, however, that such anti-inflammatory strategies were used in chronic HF. Our data indicate that activation of inflammatory factors already occurs during compensated LVH. Therefore, we posit that onset of treatment against these targets at an earlier phase of cardiac remodeling may prove useful for the prevention of the progression from compensated LVH to HF. Novel anti-inflammatory strategies targeting the CCN2 and NF-KB pathways merit further research to identify selective inhibitors reaching therapeutic efficacy and minimizing systemic toxicity.

These findings also provide insight into the diversity of pathologic mechanisms implicated in the development of HF. Over the past few years, the clinical definition of HF as a uniform phenotype and pathophysiology has been strongly refuted. Although EF has been used for decades as a clinical quantification of HF, current research has highlighted the high prevalence of HF with preserved EF and its strong association with the female sex.42,43 The present findings support the hypothesis that different molecular mechanisms would initiate diverse disease trajectories and highlight the need for more research in order to understand the background and individuality of every presentation of clinical symptoms of HF, starting with sex-specific differences. Doing so would lead to more personalized

Mayo Clin Proc. = XXX 2019;==(m):1-10 = https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026 www.mayoclinicproceedings.org

8

medicine and better management of this very frequent syndrome with poor outcome.

The sample size in our study might be considered relatively small. However, this cohort is not unusually small, given that cardiac samples were used from patients who have to continue their lives with a functioning heart following biopsy sampling. Therefore, it is not realistic or relevant to expect cohort sizes similar to those using, for example, blood samples that can be more readily available in larger numbers. Notably, this exploratory sample was adequate for identifying significant sex differences in cardiomyocyte gene expression. In fact, this unique pilot data set could already illustrate the remarkable strength and robustness of both the overall gene expression effect and the interaction effect with sex, reflected by the solid results obtained. Surely, with a larger sample size, more features could be added to statistical models without losing interpretability or leading to model overfitting. This factor underlines the need to confirm the present findings in follow-up studies with bigger cohorts. Moreover, in light of the recent advances in single-cell sequencing of the mouse adult heart,<sup>10</sup> it would be interesting to perform a genome-wide analysis of gene expression in isolated human cardiomyocytes. Further research is warranted.

#### CONCLUSION

The present findings illustrate pronounced sex differences in gene expression in isolated human cardiomyocytes and a significant male-specific association between cardiac function and inflammation-related genes. Together, these factors might contribute to the transition of compensated LVH to HF in the male pressure-overloaded heart, thereby determining postoperative recovery and the development of symptomatic HF with depressed systolic function. Taking these sex differences into account may contribute toward a more accurate design of research and the development of more appropriate therapeutic approaches for both men and women.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Drs Gaignebet and Kańduła contributed equally to this work.

#### SUPPLEMENTAL ONLINE MATERIAL

Supplemental material can be found online at http://www.mayoclinicproceedings.org. Supplemental material attached to journal articles has not been edited, and the authors take responsibility for the accuracy of all data.

Abbreviations and Acronyms: AS = aortic stenosis; AVR = aortic valve replacement; EF = ejection fraction; HF = heart failure; LV = left ventricular; LVH = LV hypertrophy; NF- $\kappa$ B = nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B subunit 1; P0 = pressure overload

Grant Support: This work was supported by the German Heart Foundation (Deutsche Herzstiftung), the DZHK (German Centre for Cardiovascular Research) and the BMBF (German Ministry for Education and Research). Dr Kańduła was supported by the Austrian Research Promotion Agency FFG (No. 856858).

Potential Competing Interests: The authors report no competing interests.

Correspondence: Address to Georgios Kararigas, PhD, Charite University Hospital, Forschungshaus 2, Hessische Str 3-4, 10115 Berlin, Germany (georgekararigas@gmail. com).

#### REFERENCES

- Regitz-Zagrosek V, Kararigas G. Mechanistic pathways of sex differences in cardiovascular disease. *Physiol Rev.* 2017;97(1):1-37.
- Carroll JD, Carroll EP, Feldman T, et al. Sex-associated differences in left ventricular function in aortic stenosis of the elderly. *Graulation*. 1992;86(4):1099-1107.
- Kararigas G, Dworatzek E, Petrov G, et al. Sex-dependent regulation of fibrosis and inflammation in human left ventricular remodelling under pressure overload. Eur J Heart Fail. 2014; 16(11):1160-1167.
- Villar AV, Llano M, Cobo M, et al. Gender differences of echocardiographic and gene expression patterns in human pressure overload left ventricular hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2009; 46(4):526-535.
- Fliegner D, Schubert C, Penkalla A, et al. Female sex and estrogen receptor-β attenuate cardiac remodeling and apoptosis in pressure overload. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2010;298(6);RI 597-RI 606.
- Kararigas G, Fliegner D, Forler S, et al. Comparative proteomic analysis reveals sex and estrogen receptor β effects in the pressure overloaded heart. J Proteome Res. 2014;13(12):5829-5836.
- Queirós AM, Eschen C, Fliegner D, et al. Sex- and estrogendependent regulation of a miRNA network in the healthy and hypertrophied heart. Int J Cardial. 2013;169(5):331-338.
- Sanchez-Ruderisch H, Queirós AM, Fliegner D, Eschen C, Kararigas G, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Sex-specific regulation of cardiac microRNAs targeting mitochondrial proteins in pressure overload. Biol Sex Differ. 2019;10(1):8.

Mayo Clin Proc. = XXX 2019;==(@):1-10 = https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026 www.mayoclinicproceedings.org

## **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

- Weinberg EO, Thienelt CD, Katz SE, et al. Gender differences in molecular remodeling in pressure overload hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999;34(1):264-273.
- Gladka MM, Molenaar B, de Ruiter H, et al. Single-cell sequencing of the healthy and diseased heart reveals cytoskeleton-associated protein 4 as a new modulator of fibroblasts activation. *Circulation*, 2018;138(2):166-180.
- Pinto AR, Ilinykh A, Ivey MJ, et al. Revisiting cardiac cellular composition. Circ Res. 2016;118(3):400-409.
- Devereux RB, Alonso DR, Lutas EM, et al. Echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular hypertrophy: comparison to necropsy findings. Am J Cardiol. 1986;57(6):450-458.
- 13. Lang RM, Badano LP, Mor-Avi V, et al. Recommendations for cardiac chamber quantification by echocardiography in adults: an update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging [published correction appears in Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17(4):412]. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015;16(3): 233-270.
- Kararigas G, Bito V, Tinel H, et al. Transcriptome characterization of estrogen-treated human myocardium identifies myosin regulatory light chain interacting protein as a sex-specific element influencing contractile function. J Am Coll Cardol. 2012;59(4):410-417.
- Molina CE, Leroy J, Richter W, et al. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate phosphodiesterase type 4 protects against atrial arrhythmias. J Am Coll Cardol. 2012;59(24):2182-2190.
- Kararigas G, Nguyen BT, Zelarayan LC, et al. Genetic background defines the regulation of postnatal cardiac growth by 17β-estradiol through a β-catenin mechanism. *Endocrinology*. 2014;155(7):2667-2676.
- Esslinger U, Garnier S, Korniat A, et al. Exome-wide association study reveals novel susceptibility genes to sporadic dilated cardiomyopathy. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(3):e0172995.
- Kieschnick R, McCullough BD. Regression analysis of variates observed on (0,1): percentages, proportions and fractions. *Stat Modelling*. 2003;3(3):193-213.
- Kronmal RA. Spurious correlation and the fallacy of the ratio standard revisited. J Royal Stat Soc A Stat. 1993;156:379-392.
- Huber PJ. Robust Statistics. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons 1981.
   Venables WN, Ripley BD. Modern Applied Statistics with S. Fourth
- Venables VVIX, Npiey BD: Modern Applied statustics with 3, Fourth ed. New York, NY: Springer Science+Business Media; 2002.
- Villari B, Campbell SE, Schneider J, Vassalli G, Chiariello M, Hess OM. Sex-dependent differences in left ventricular function and structure in chronic pressure overload. *Eur Heart J.* 1995; 16(10):1410-1419.
- 23. Douglas PS, Otto CM, Mickel MC, Labovitz A, Reid CL, Davis KR, NH-LBI Balloon Valvuloplasty Registry. Gender differences in left ventricle geometry and function in patients undergoing balloon dilatation of the aortic valve for isolated aortic stenosis. Br Heart J. 1995;73(6):548-554.
- Aurigemma GP, Silver KH, McLaughlin M, Mauser J, Gaasch WH. Impact of chamber geometry and gender on left ventricular systolic function in patients > 60 years of age with aortic stenosis. Am J Cardol. 1994;74(8):794-798.
- Cramariuc D, Rogge BP, Lønnebakken MT, et al. Sex differences in cardiovascular outcome during progression of aortic valve stenosis. *Heart.* 2015;101(3):209-214.
- Nakamura M, Sadoshima J. Mechanisms of physiological and pathological cardiac hypertrophy. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2018;15(7): 387-407.

- Heineke J, Molkentin JD. Regulation of cardiac hypertrophy by intracellular signalling pathways. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2006;7(8): 589-600.
- Dworatzek E, Baczko I, Kararigas G. Effects of aging on cardiac extracellular matrix in men and women. *Proteomics Clin Appl.* 2016;10(1):84-91.
- Gaignebet L, Kararigas G. En route to precision medicine through the integration of biological sex into pharmacogenomics. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2017;131(4):329-342.
- Chen MM, Lam A, Abraham JA, Schreiner GF, Joly AH. CTGF expression is induced by TGF- β in cardiac fibroblasts and cardiac myocytes: a potential role in heart fibrosis. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2000;32(10):1805-1819.
- Chen CC, Lau LF. Functions and mechanisms of action of CCN matricellular proteins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2009;41(4):771-783.
- Daniels A, van Bilsen M, Goldschmeding R, van der Vusse GJ, van Nieuwenhoven FA. Connective tissue growth factor and cardiac fibrosis. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2009;195(3):321-338.
- Koentges C, Pepin ME, Müsse C, et al. Gene expression analysis to identify mechanisms underlying heart failure susceptibility in mice and humans. Basic Res Cardiol. 2017;113(1):8.
- Dorn LE, Petrosino JM, Wright P, Accomero F. CTGF/CCN2 is an autocrine regulator of cardiac fibrosis. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2018;121:205-211.
- Gordon JW, Shaw JA, Kirshenbaum LA. Multiple facets of NFκB in the heart: to be or not to NF-κB. *Girc Res.* 2011;108(9): 1122-1132.
- Saito T, Giaid A. Cyclooxygenase-2 and nuclear factor-kappaB in myocardium of end stage human heart failure. *Congest Heart Fail.* 1999;5(5):222-227.
- Frantz S, Fraccarollo D, Wagner H, et al. Sustained activation of nuclear factor kappa B and activator protein 1 in chronic heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2003;57(3):749-756.
- Sánchez-López E, Rayego S, Rodrigues-Díez R, et al. CTGF promotes inflammatory cell infiltration of the renal interstitium by activating NF-κB. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(7):1513-1526.
- Rodrigues-Diez RR, Garcia-Redondo AB, Orejudo M, et al. The C-terminal module IV of connective tissue growth factor, through EGFR/Nox1 signaling, activates the NF-kB pathway and proinflammatory factors in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2015;22(1):29-47.
- 40. Chung ES, Packer M, Lo KH, Fasanmade AA, Willerson JT; ATTACH Investigators. Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, pilot trial of infliximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor-alpha, in patients with moderate-to-severe heart failure: results of the anti-TNF Therapy Against Congestive Heart Failure (ATTACH) trial. *Circulotion*. 2003;107(25):3133-3140.
- Mann DL, McMurray JJ, Packer M, et al. Targeted anticytokine therapy in patients with chronic heart failure: results of the Randomized Etanercept Worldwide Evaluation (RENEWAL). *Circulation*. 2004;109(13):1594-1602.
- Beale AL, Meyer P, Marwick TH, Lam CSP, Kaye DM. Sex differences in cardiovascular pathophysiology: why women are overrepresented in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Circulation*. 2018;138(2):198-205.
- Stolfo D, Uijl A, Vedin O, et al. Sex-based differences in heart failure across the ejection fraction spectrum: phenotyping, and prognostic and therapeutic implications. *JACC Heart Fail*. 2019; 7(6):505-515.

Mayo Clin Proc. = XXX 2019:==(m):1-10 = https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026 www.mayoclinicproceedings.org Mein Lebenslauf wird aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen in der elektronischen Version meiner Arbeit nicht veröffentlicht.

## **Publikationsliste**

Kyriazis ID, Hoffman M, **Gaignebet L**, Lucchese AM, Markopoulou E, Palioura D, Wang C, Bannister TD, Christofidou-Solomidou M, Oka SI, Sadoshima J, Koch WJ, Goldberg IJ, Yang VW, Bialkowska AB, Kararigas G, Drosatos K. *KLF5 Is Induced by FOXO1 and Causes Oxidative Stress and Diabetic Cardiomyopathy.* Circ Res. 2021 Feb 5;128(3):335-357. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316738. Epub 2020 Dec 2 PMID:33539225; PMCID: PMC7870005. Journal Impact Factor (2019): 14.467

**Gaignebet L**, Kańduła MM, Lehmann D, Knosalla C, Kreil DP, Kararigas G. Sex-Specific Human Cardiomyocyte Gene Regulation in Left Ventricular Pressure Overload. Mayo Clin Proc. 2020 Apr;95(4):688-697. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.11.026. Epub 2020 Jan 15. PMID: 31954524. Journal Impact Factor (2019): 7.091

**Gaignebet L**, Kararigas G. *En route to precision medicine through the integration of biological sex into pharmacogenomics.* Clin Sci (Lond). 2017 Feb 1;131(4):329-342. doi: 10.1042/CS20160379. PMID: 28159880. Journal Impact Factor (2017): 5.220

## Danksagung

An erster Stelle gilt mein Dank meinem Doktorvater, Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Kararigas für seine hervorragende wissenschaftliche und methodische Unterstützung während der gesamten Bearbeitungsphase meiner Dissertation. Mit seiner Genauigkeit, seiner Gründlichkeit und seiner Präzision ermöglichte er mir eine hochwertige wissenschaftliche Grundausbildung, die meine klinische Praxis stets prägen wird.

Außerdem gilt mein Dank Frau Dr. Regitz-Zagrosek und den Mitarbeitern des Institutes für Geschlechterforschung in der Medizin, die diese Arbeit erst möglich machten und mich bei der Bearbeitung unterstützt haben. Insbesondere danke ich Daniel Lehmann für die anhaltende und unermüdlichen Hilfestellung, sowie die zahlreichen fachlichen Ratschläge und Anmerkungen, die mir immer wieder erneut Einblick und Einsicht beim Ausüben meiner wissenschaftlichen Arbeit vermittelten. Auch die vielen nicht-wissenschaftlichen und motivierenden Gespräche haben meine Arbeit unterstützt.

Prof. Dr. med. Volkmar Falk und allen Mitarbeitern des Deutschen Herzzentrums Berlin bin ich sehr dankbar für die gute und zahlreiche Unterstützung sowie die Einführung in die dortige exzellente Berufsethik. Besonders möchte ich an dieser Stelle Prof. Dr. med. Christoph Knosalla für sein ausgezeichnetes Mentoring meiner klinischen Forschungsarbeit, sowie Dr. med Volker Düsterhöft für die konstruktive und angenehme Zusammenarbeit danken.

Wegen der ebenso erfolgreichen Kooperation danke ich Maciej Kańduła und David Kreil von der BOKU Universität Wien.

Für die finanzielle Förderung durch das Kaltenbach-Stipendium muss ich der Deutschen Herzstiftung e.V. meinen Dank ausdrücken.

Zuletzt möchte ich meiner Familie sowie meinen Freunden und Kollegen meinen großen Dank aussprechen, die mich bei der Anfertigung meiner Doktorarbeit unterstützt und ermutigt haben. Mein besonderer Dank gilt meinem Freund Björn Balcerek für die unermüdliche Stärkung und Motivierung, sowie für das stets offene Ohr für meine Gedanken.